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ABOUT THIS REPORT
The Norfolk Island Regional Council Annual Report 2021–2022 
provides an overview of the activities and achievements of Council 
during the financial year and its progress towards achieving the 
Island’s vision through “Our Plan for the Future”.

It also includes the Council’s financial performance as at 30 June 
2022, governance and statutory information to assist community 
understanding of Council performance as a community leader and 
business entity.

You can download a copy of this report at
www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/reports- annual- reports.

You can request a printed copy or provide feedback by calling us on
+672 3 22244 or local free call 0100.
Or you can email us at customercare@nirc.gov.nf.

Norfolk Island Regional Council acknowledges the traditional 
custodians of this Island.

Norfolk Island Regional Council
Customer Care Opening Hours
9.00 am – 4.00 pm, Monday to Friday

Postal address:
PO Box 95
NORFOLK ISLAND 2899

Physical location:
Council Bicentennial Complex, 
39 Taylors Rd, Burnt Pine 
Norfolk Island 2899

Telephone International: +672 3 22244 
Local free call: 0100
Tabled at Council meeting: 07 December 2022
Resolution Number: 2022/145
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ADMINISTRATOR'S
MESSAGE

Mike Colreavy
ADMINISTRATOR

The Annual Report is published for the community. 

Council was formally dismissed in December 2021, and placed in 
Administration until 5 December 2024. 

My focus whilst Administrator will be implementing both the 
Public Inquiry outcomes and the adopted External Audit 
Findings. 

This Annual Report represents another challenging year for the 
organisation, but with an improvement in its financial position by 
adopting its Transition to Sustainability program. 

This report details outcomes achieved by Council over the past 
12 months and its Audit Financial Statements. 

I commend the Annual Report for 2021/22 to the community.



Andrew Roach
General Manager

Another challenging year for the Regional Council, with the conclusion of
the Public Inquiry and the appointment of the Administrator from 5
December 2021 until 5 December 2024.

This has set a course of change for the organisation, and the adoption of
the Transition to Sustainability program to place the organisation in the
best possible shape for the future.

Whilst significant improvements have been made in cutting costs across
the organisation, this year saw Council focus on improving revenue
streams to be more inline with similar communities across Australia.
Increases were made across the board to rates, waste management
charges, electricity, telecom, the airport and liquor bond. A focus on
making all our business units profitable was mostly achieved during this
period, with the remaining two, airport and waste management to be
achieved in the next period.

Council continues to develop its working relationship with the Department
of Infrastructure, Transport, Communication Regional Development & the
Arts, with a new Service Delivery Agreement developed to provide not only
the Commonwealth with a better reporting module, but for Council to be
clear on its service levels. This improved working relationship is starting to
leverage additional funding opportunities for the Island, where much
needed grant money for infrastructure will materialise in the next two
years.

This report sees an improvement in Councils operations inline with the
External Audit Findings and conclusions of the Public Inquiry, which will
continue to be our focus during the term of Administration.

I commend this report to you.
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GENERAL MANAGER'S
MESSAGE
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The Annual Report is one of the key components of
the Integrated Planning and Reporting (IPR) Framework. The
Report helps the Council keep the community informed on
what has been achieved in the previous financial year.

The following diagram outlines the elements of the framework
for Norfolk Island. It is based on the New South Wales (NSW)
Office of Local Government’s Integrated Planning and Reporting
(IPR) Framework and involves planning and reporting
requirements.

The Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework diagram
illustrates the various elements of the overall framework and
how the various plans and reports interrelate. The framework
also recognises the important role the community play in
guiding Council in their service delivery.

INFORMING OUR
COMMUNITY

Figure 1: The Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework
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  Norfolk Island Snapshot
  
Geographic 
Coordinates 29.03°S, 167.95°E  

Coastline 32 km 
Climate Mild and sub-tropical
Highest point Mount Bates 319m
Timezone  UTC+11:00  

Central Business Area  Burnt Pine, Taylors Road  

International
Calling Code  6723  

Internet TLD  .nf  
Drive on left 
Business Language  English  
Official Languages  Norf’k and English  
Major Industry Tourism  
Population  2188 (2021 census)

ABOUT NORFOLK ISLAND

Norfolk Island is a small sub-tropical island,
8km long by 5 km wide and 3455 hectares
in area, located in the south-west Pacific
Ocean, 769 km from New Caledonia, 1673
km from Sydney and 1074 km from
Auckland.

It is often defined by its soaring pine trees
and jagged cliffs, however, the island also
boasts stunning sandy beaches such as
Emily and Slaughter Bays with their reef-
protected waters, and surf beaches, such as
Bumbora and Anson Bays. 

The Norfolk Island National Park offers a
range of walking tracks from relatively easy
to more demanding routes, with stunning
vistas and views over palm forests from Mt
Pitt and Mt Bates.

Baut Norf'k
Geographical context

a population of 2,188
48.4 per cent males and 51.6 per cent
females with a median age of 50 years
1,220 private dwellings
an average of 2.1 persons in each
household
29 per cent of its population participating in
voluntary work during the last 12 months
80.8 per cent of its population with internet
access at home.

According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics
Census Data recently conducted in 2021,
Norfolk Island has:

The most common employment sectors include
Accommodation and Food Services, Retail
Trade, and Public Administration and Safety.

Population



Figure 4.  The view from Mount Bates  © Carla Miles

Captain James Cook was the first European to
discover Norfolk Island in 1774, during his
‘Voyage of Discovery’ expedition; however, the
island had been previously settled by
Polynesians between 800 AD and 1450 AD.
Evidence of this was recorded by the British,
including by Philip Gidley King, the first
commandant of the Colonial (first) British
Settlement, when they arrived on Norfolk
Island in 1788.

The Colonial Settlement ran from 1788 to 1814
and was integral to the initial survival of its
sister colony at Port Jackson, Sydney. The
sinking of HMS Sirius in 1790 was a devastating
event for the two small colonies. Having one of
the two supply ships out of commission was a
huge setback, making it difficult to receive
enough supplies for them both. The HMS Sirius
Museum is dedicated to interpreting this
catastrophic tale.

The cost of maintaining the colony, the lack of
easy access for ships, and the fact that the
Norfolk Island pine was unsuitable for ships
masts and the local flax lacked the necessary
fibre content to make sails, all compounded to
convince the British Home Office that the
settlement was a failure, and certainly didn’t
deliver on its early promise. In 1814, the
Colonial Settlement was abandoned, with all
the buildings destroyed to dissuade the French,
and anyone else, from taking the island for
their own.

Following a shift in policy towards the
treatment of felons, the British government 

Historical context
decided to re- establish a second
settlement on Norfolk Island (known as
Penal Settlement) eleven years later, in
1825. This settlement was infamous for the
hardship and severe punishments meted
out to convicts. The Penal Settlement lasted
for 30 years until 1855 when it was, once
again, closed, and the island was prepared
for the arrival of the Pitcairners, the
descendants of the HMS Bounty mutiny,
from Pitcairn Island.

The mutineers had established a colony on
Pitcairn Island in 1790 with their Tahitian
brides and several Tahitian men and
women who had travelled with them. There
they established their own traditions,
culture, laws and language, which were
brought with their descendants to Norfolk
Island in 1856 aboard the Morayshire. More
than a century and a half later the
descendants of these people are the
Norfolk Islanders of today.
 

From 1867 to 1920, Norfolk Island was also
home to Melanesian students at the
Mission. The mission – where youths from
Melanesian islands, such as Solomon
Islands and New Hebrides, were taught
new skills in farming and domestic duties
and religious education – was moved from
New Zealand to Norfolk Island in 1866.

Since then, people have come from all over
the world to make Norfolk Island their
home, and these people are now an
integral part of the island community.
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Figure 4.  The view from Mount Bates  © Carla Miles

New South Wales Legislation in Norfolk
Island (applied law)
A number of NSW laws have been applied
to Norfolk Island; these laws have the text
‘(NSW)(NI)’ after them, and this shows that
they are federal versions of state laws for
example, Local Government Act 1993 (NSW)
(NI).

Some applied laws are only applicable to
certain NSW state officials or NSW services
providers while they are working on
Norfolk Island and others have full
application, such as public health services
and education services, which apply to all
on Norfolk Island.

Norfolk Island Continued Legislation
Laws made by the Commonwealth as
Ordinances prior to 1979 and, laws that
were made by the previous Legislative
Assembly of Norfolk Island continue to
apply unless they have been specifically
repealed by the Commonwealth.

All laws that apply to Norfolk Island can be
viewed online on the Federal Register of
Legislation.
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Norfolk Island is an External Territory under
the Authority of the Commonwealth of
Australia; the Norfolk Island Act 1979 (CTH)
remains the primary Commonwealth law that
governs Norfolk Island.

The Norfolk Island Regional Council (NIRC)
formally commenced on 1 July 2016; it is
governed by the Local Government Act 1993
(NSW)(NI) as well as other applied legislation.

NIRC is unique in that it provides a broad range
of local government services to the community
of Norfolk Island, as well as commercial type
services such as: an international airport,
telecommunications, electricity generation and
distribution and, liquor wholesale and retail. 

NIRC is also contracted to provide
Commonwealth funded state-type services,
such as motor vehicle licencing.
 
Federal Legislation in Norfolk Island
Under the Norfolk Island Act 1979 (CTH), all
Commonwealth laws apply to Norfolk Island
unless they are expressed not to; some federal
laws such as the Goods and Services tax do not
apply fully. Australian taxation legislation as
well as the Privacy Act 1988 (CTH) are examples
of federal legislation that does extend to
Norfolk Island.

The federal minister responsible for Territories
can make Ordinances, Transitional Rules and
Legislative Instruments for Norfolk Island.

Legislative context
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ABOUT COUNCIL

Baut Kaunsl

On the 4th February 2021, Assistant Minister Nola Marino
suspended the Council and appointed Mike Colreavy as Interim
Administrator pending a Public Inquiry into the Financial
Operations of NIRC. 

On 6th December 2021, having regard to the findings of the
Public Inquiry into the Norfolk Island Regional Council (NIRC),
the Council was dismissed, and Mike Colreavy appointed as
Administrator of Council for a period of three years until
December 2024.
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OUR STRUCTURE

Auwas Strakcha

The General Manager and Executive Team are responsible for
operational management in line with the Strategic Plans as
determined by Council.

In consultation with the Administrator, the Executive Team and
their staff develop annual Operational Plans and budgets
aligned to the Delivery Program. An assessment of progress
against these plans is provided to Council and the community
each quarter via the quarterly Operational Plan review, and
annually through the Annual Report.

The Executive Management Team are responsible for the
functional divisions and branches shown in the organisational
chart on the next page. Their role is to assist Council in making
timely and informed decisions, backed by trusted advice and
supported by effective and inclusive governance. 

As leaders of the organisation, the Executive Team, Managers,
Team and Section Leaders are responsible for ensuring their
divisions and branches service the local community effectively
and efficiently.
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2021/2022 Organisational Structure



Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Date Ord. Meetings Attended
Ord. Meetings Held

7 July 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

4 August 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

1 September 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

6 October 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

3 November 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

1 December 2021 Ordinary Council Meeting

January 2022 No meeting held

2 February 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting

9 March 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting

6 April 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting

4 May 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting

1 June 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting

Mr Mike Colreavy attended the following meetings as Norfolk Island Regional Council Administrator:

Attendance at 2021-2022 Council Meetings

Extraordinary Meetings: 1 July 2021 – 30 June
2022: Four Extraordinary Meetings of Council
during the reporting period are shown below.

Date
Exraord. Meetings
Attended / Extraord.
Meetings Held

16 July 2021

Review Policy 3.10
Unreasonable Contact

Setting  2021-2022 Rates
and Charges  

Development Application
DA 02/2021

Review of Development
Control Plan No. 2 Water
Resource

21 December 2021

Administrators Minute

Ordinary Meeting of
Council – Dates and Times

Report on the Findings of
the Public Inquiry into the
NIRC December 2021

17 March 2022
Infrastructure Services –
Lighterage – Purchase
New Vessels

24 May 2022
Draft Delivery 2022-26
and Operational Plan
2022-23

Council Meetings: 1 July 2021 – 30 June 2022:
11 Ordinary Meetings of Council during the
reporting period are shown below.



Council Advisory Committees
Advisory Committees are a valued source of community input on important identified community
matters. The Council’s Advisory Committees have strong community representation to provide
feedback on specific key issues. 

Information on the Committees is accessible online from Council’s website at
www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/your-council/council-advisory-committees.

Advisory Committees operate under Council-endorsed Terms of Reference, which are available for
public access on Council’s website, along with other related content.

Advisory Committees provide a structure for interested residents and subject matter experts to play an
active role in contributing to Council policy and direction. Advisory Committees provide an important
link for Council with the community and are supported via other community consultative methods.

1 July 2021 – 30 June 2022 
On the 9th June 2021 Council resolved to adopt guidelines to establish the following four (4) Advisory
Committees and rescind previous guidelines as per Resolution: (2021/62). Council then, on the 6th
October 2021, resolved to appoint the new Advisory Committees as per Resolution 2021/128.
1.Business Innovation and Tourism, 2. Reserves and Conservation, 3. Sustainability, and 4. Youth.

Advisory Committee Meeting Dates 

The Council's Advisory Committee meetings were held on the following dates over the 2021-22
reporting period.

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Date
Business

Innovation
and Tourism

Reserves and
Conservation Sustainability Youth

Audit, Risk and
Improvement

Committee

July 2021 - - - - -

August 2021 - - - - 26/08/21

September 2021 - - - - -

October 2021 - - - - -

November 2021 - - - - 10/11/21

December 2021 - - - - -

January 2022 - 20/01/22 - - -

February 2022 24/02/22 - - - 10/02/22

March 2022 - 22/03/22 16/03/22 - -

April 2022 - - - - 29/04/22

May 2022 25/05/22 17/05/22 11/05/22
 18/05/22 - 12/05/22

June 2022 - - - - -

http://www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/your-council/council-advisory-committees


Media Releases (222)
Gazettes (62)
Emergency Management Norfolk Island; facilitated 69 MR’s Media
Releases (55)
Norf’k Fuss – 12 Monthly Editions plus a Special Edition in May 2022
regarding the Draft Delivery Program 2022- 2026 and Draft
Operational Plan 2022 – 2023. 

Communications and Media

Council is committed to keeping our community informed and updated
with responsible messaging through a variety of channels including
online and social media, radio and print. 

The following provides an overview of Council’s communications activities
during the year: 

Public Access Meetings 
As per Council’s Code of Meeting Practice, residents, ratepayers,
applicants, consultants or other persons may apply to address Council in
relation to any matter listed for consideration in a Council Business
Paper. 

Public Access meetings held during the reporting period are outlined in
the table below. 

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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OUR COMMUNICATIONS
AND COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT

Engiejen lorngfe awas
komyuuneti



Public Community Engagement Meetings
Council has engaged with the community throughout the reporting period and continues to actively
seek broad consultation to better understand the different views present in the community. 

The following community public meetings were held during the reporting period:

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Dates Subject

8 July 2021 Museum Holiday activities

30 September 2021 Museum Holiday activities

1 July – 31 July 2021 Buy Local Survey - Norfolk Island residents to assist Council in better
understanding local consumer practices

1 July – 31 July 2021 Buy Local Spending Spree Competition, Norfolk Wave campaign

18 February 2022 Residential Waste Guide Collaboration - an Our Marine Parks Grants project,
Norfolk Wave campaign

19 February 2022 Norfolk Wave Stall - Norfolk Island Residential Waste Guide, Norfolk Wave
campaign

19 February 2022 Waste Management Strategy Consultants Anne Prince and Team - Foodland
Mall, Norfolk Wave campaign

19 February 2022 The Local, and learn how to make your own waste free products, Norfolk Wave
campaign

Submissions
During the year Council sought submissions on various issues of public interest by way of either email
to regionalcouncil@nirc.gov.nf, postal submissions and/or online surveys, as listed below:

Date placed on exhibition Document or matter No. of submissions

May – June 2022 Draft Delivery Program 2022-2026 & 
Draft Operational Plan 2022-2023 432

Meeting date Item
Organisation / interest

group

1 1 December 2021 10.3 - Norfolk Telecom Review Update Ms Robin Adams

2 9 March 2022 Code of Meeting Practice (New Public Access
Format) Ms Robin Adams

3 6 April 2022 13.2 - Sustainability Population Strategy Ms Robin Adams

4 4 May 2022 12.1 Electricity Review Update - Funding and Tariff
Introduction Ms Robin Adams

Public Access has been used in this reporting period by the following persons or organisations:

mailto:regionalcouncil@nirc.gov.nf
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SERVICE DELIVERY
AGREEMENT (SDA)

Norfolk Island Regional Council delivers state-type services on behalf of
the Commonwealth of Australia through a Service Delivery Agreement
(SDA). The initial three-year SDA commenced in July 2016. 

A 12-month extension until June 2020 was approved by the
Commonwealth Government in June 2019, and further extensions to
June 2021 and 30 September 2021 were approved on 30 June 2020, and
25 June 2021 respectively. A new SDA was signed in November 2021.

The original 16 services and five additional services are listed below,
with cessations and changes to those services also included. Delivery of
these services aligns with identified Key Performance Indicators, with
the Commonwealth being responsible for providing Norfolk Island
Regional Council with annual funding for these services and regulatory
functions.

In 2021-22 the Commonwealth provided $5.084M for delivery of
services under the SDA. 

Council’s vision is to deliver these services in an efficient and effective
manner for the period of the SDA.

Whilst the State Services Delivery Program continues, Risk Management
and Quality of Service Delivery remains a key performance sector
criteria for all SDA services.

Serwes Deliwri Griiment
(SDA)
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 Service Delivery

1 Education Ceased 2017-18

2 Legal Services, Deceased Estates & Probates Policing ceased 2019-20

3 Courts, Tribunals & Boards

4 Child Welfare Ceased 2016-17 

5 Registry, Licensing & Regulatory Enforcement

6 Emergency Services – Ambulance Ceased 2018-19

6 Emergency Services - Marine Resuce Ceased 2021-2021

6 Emergency Servicers - Community Fire 

7 Kingston & Arthurs Vale Historic Area & Museums

8 Office of Administrator Ceased 2018-19

9 Lotteries Gaming Gaming ceased 2016-17

10 Pest, Disease & Noxious Weed Control

11 Workers Compensation Ceased 2020-21

12 Ports Management 

13 Record Keeping

14 Spatial Planning

15 ICT Support Ceased 2019-20

16 Pensioner Rates Rebate

17 SDA Management Added 2017-18

18 Public Health Added 2017-18

19 Property Management Added 2017-18 ceased 2018-19

20 Adhoc Services Added 2017-18 ceased 2018-19

21 Adhoc & Demand Driven Services Added 2019-20

Page 15

SERVICE DELIVERY
AGREEMENT (SDA) CONT'D



FIGURE 1.

According to Wikipedia, an
annual report is a
comprehensive report on a
company's activities
throughout the preceding
year.

STATUTORY
REPORTING
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1.1 Achievements in Implementing the Delivery Program and
Operational Plan
An extract from the Norfolk Island Community Strategic Plan 2016-2026



This section provides an overview of Council’s performance and activities as they pertain to the Norfolk
Island Community Strategic Plan (CSP) 2016-2026, ‘Our Plan for the Future’, which informs the Delivery
Program and the Operational Plan 2021-2022. 

The CSP identifies six strategic directions and 13 objectives for Council and the community to achieve
Council’s vision, ‘Norfolk Island – the Best Small Island in the World’. These strategic directions and
objectives are shown the diagram to the left. 

The Annual Report also includes statutory information as prescribed by legislation. This information is
to assist community members understand how Council has been performing during the previous
financial year. 

A detailed report of Council’s achievements in implementing its Operational Plan 2021-2022 are
presented in Appendix 1 of this Annual Report

1.2  Professional Development of Administrator 
There has been no professional development undertaken in 2021-2022. 

1.3  Overseas visits – Administrator, Staff or Representatives of
Council
There has been no overseas travel undertaken in 2021-2022.

1.4     Fees and Expenses for the Administrator
The total amount of money spent on providing facilities and payment of expenses is outlined in the
table below.

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Details Amount (S)

Interim Administrator's Allowance and Superannuation    $135,573

Accommodation, Travel and Incidentals      $43,318

TOTAL    $178,891



1.5  General Manager and Senior Staff Remuneration

General Manager total remuneration package comprises of:

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Details Amount (S)

Total value of the salary component of the package    $246,786

Total bonus, performance or other payments that do not form part
of the salary component              Nil

Total amount payable by the Council by way of the employer’s
superannuation contribution    $24,678

Total value of any non-cash benefits for which the General Manager
may elect under the package             Nil

Total amount payable by the Council by way of fringe benefits tax for
any such non-cash benefits             Nil

TOTAL    $271,464

Manager Corporate & Finance
Manager Planning & Environment
Manager Infrastructure Services
Manager Economic Development
Manager Customer Care

Senior Staff – Managers (five) total remuneration packages comprise of:

Details Amount (S)

Total value of the salary component of the package    $758,381

Total bonus, performance or other payments that do not form part
of the salary component             Nil

Total amount payable by the Council by way of the employer’s
superannuation contribution     $75,838

Total value of any non-cash benefits for which the General Manager
may elect under the package    $44,619

Total amount payable by the Council by way of fringe benefits tax for
any such non-cash benefits              Nil

TOTAL    $878,838



1.6  Activities Undertaken to Implement the Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO) Management Plan 

Figure 1.  Emily Bay © Susan Prior
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Refinement of the Argent Job Evaluation System allowing across the board transparent salary

benchmarking, salary grading system in accordance with the classifications and level of

requirements of the EA 2020.

Further developing a merit based system in administering compensation and benefits across all

positions within the structure.

Staff Consultative Committee that provided platform for all staff to participate and or provide

recommendations, suggestions and raise concerns.

Provision of flexible working arrangement and organising meetings via web based media platforms

allowing staff to participate and proactively be involved in council activities.

Developed and Implemented Policy on Harassment and Bullying to ensure that NIRC maintains a

working environment free of coercion, harassment, and intimidation at all job sites, and in all

facilities at which employees are assigned to work. 

Use of inclusive languages in all of Council signs, documents and web pages.

NIRC provided a parental leave and flexible working arrangement policies.

Allowed employees to take religious or national holidays that aren’t included in NIRC’s official

holiday schedules.

Council’s Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Management Plan seeks to create a positive culture
within the organisation, by ensuring employees adopt fair work practices and demonstrate ethical
behavior while respecting diversity in the workplace and those they interact with. 

Council's workforce reflects the diversity of the community in relation to EEO target groups - women,
young people, people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds minority groups such as
people of Fiji, other South Pacific Islands descent, and people with a physical disability.

Council engages in processes for recruitment and selection that allow anyone within the community to
apply for a position within Council. Existing employees have opportunities for training and
development, promotion based on merit selection, transfers within Council and the opportunity to act
in a higher duties position for a defined time frame. Council seeks to have a multi-skilled workforce
which can serve its community.

Key achievements in 2021-2022:
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Quarter Number Received Number Finalised Number where full
access was granted

1 42 1 1

2 28 59 5

3 4 12 0

4 5 3 0

TOTAL 79 75 6

Number of applications received = 4
Number of applications approved = 3
Total value of funding to the community = $11,100

1.8  Legal proceedings
Amounts incurred by the Council during the year in relation to legal proceedings taken by or against the
Council (including amounts, costs and expenses paid or received by way of out of court settlements,
other than those the terms of which are not to be disclosed) and a summary of the state of progress of
each legal proceeding and (if it has been finalised) the result: Nil.

1.9 Financially Assisting Others – Community Grants Program
The Community Grants Program is run annually by Council and provides financial assistance to
community organisations to purchase resources, complete repairs and maintenance projects and, run
community events.

For the 2021/2022 reporting period the total funding made available under the program is $62,000,
with a maximum for each project being $5,000.

1.7  Public Access to Information 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (CTH) came into effect on Norfolk Island on 1 January 2011; it is
the primary piece of legislation governing access to Council information. 

The Freedom of Information (FOI) legislation allows the public to ask for access to documents held by
the Norfolk Island Regional Council, including documents containing personal information about
individuals and information about policies or programs. 

For the reporting period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 there were (79) FOI applications received.

More information in relation to Councils FOI process can be found on Council’s website at link
http://www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/policy-and-governance/freedom-information-foi. The website also
contains a disclosure log of documents, where access has been granted.

http://www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/policy-and-governance/freedom-information-foi
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Organisation name Project Grant Total

Norfolk Island Girl Guides Construct a disability access ramp to the Girl
Guide Hall $5,000 

Norfolk Island Sustainability
Hub

Procurement of IT equipment for the NI
Sustainability Hub building $4,991 

Norfolk Island Conservation
Volunteers 

The purchase of tools to be used in the
eradication of the Madeira Vine in 100 Acres $1,109 

Bursaries and Scholarships
There were a total of 18 successful applications totaling $18,600 in grant funding distributed. 

Approved bursary funding was awarded to:

Applicant Qualification Amount

Trent Christian TAFE   $1,100

Kyran Randall  TAFE   $1,100

Tiana Randall  TAFE    $1,100  

Eve Semple OTHER       $500  

Brayden Adams  TAFE     $1,100  

Ben Christian  TAFE     $1,100  

Hannah Bigg TERTIARY DEGREE     $1,100  

Jemima Quintal  TERTIARY DEGREE    $1,100  

Tigerlily Sheridan TERTIARY DEGREE    $1,100  

William Elliot  TAFE   $1,100  

Jared Magri TAFE   $1,100  

Isabelle Ward  TERTIARY DEGREE   $1,100 

Corey Anderson  TERTIARY DEGREE    $1,100  

Flynn McCowan TAFE   $1,100  

Mirabelle Creek  TERTIARY DEGREE   $1,100 

Eloise Grant  TERTIARY DEGREE    $1,100  

Charlie Carr  TERTIARY DEGREE    $1,100  

Millisent Clark  TAFE     $500  

2021/2022 Funding Applications



1.10  Externally Delegated Functions
Statement of all external bodies that during the year exercised functions delegated by Council: Nil.

1.11  Controlling Interests
Statement of all corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, syndicates or other bodies (whether
or not incorporated) in which Council (whether alone or in conjunction with other councils) held a
controlling interest during the year: Nil.

1.12  Council’s Participation in Partnerships, Corporations or
Joint ventures
Statement of all corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, syndicates or other bodies (whether
or not incorporated) in which Council participated during the year: Nil.

1.13  Contracts Awarded in Excess of $150,000 
Details of each contract awarded by the Council during the 2021-2022 financial year for amounts
greater than $150,000 (except employment contracts – contracts of service).
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Name of Contractor Nature of goods or services supplied Total amount payable
under the contract

Revolve Your World Glass Crusher    $804,000

Revolve Your World Waste Management Services $2,920,000

TEK-Ocean Freighting the lighterage vessels    $797,784

Alumarine Small lighterage vessel    $247,500

Thinkfish Pty Ltd Large Lighterage vessel    $659,460

David & Joanne Porter Purchase of AATAREN accommodation  $1,000,000

Raymond Sills & Susan
Christian-Sills

Purchase of Norfolk Island Holiday
Apartments  $1,750,000

Ausroads Plant Hire Purchase of Jetmaster Truck     $300,000

EPC Technologies Electricity upgrade advisory services    $184,000

Norfolk Island Block Factory Economic Stimulus – Footpath    $251,756

J Sanders Construction Economic Stimulus – Bicentennial
refurbishment    $625,410
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Backup security functionality at Telecom - $89,760
Records digitisation - $10,995
Minor airport upgrades - $122,673
Waste management upgrades and equipment - $550,968
Refurbishment of Bicentennial Building - $1,100,000
Placement of solar lights throughout Burnt pine - $250,000
Footpath works - $488,655
Replacement fuel pipes at Ball Bay - $193,199
Roadworks various locations - $960,289
Purchase of two accommodation complexes - $2,750,000
Purchase of new lighterage vessels - $909,960
Purchase of Jet-patcher for road works - $300,000

1.14  Rates and Charges Written Off During the Year
There was no abandonment of rates during this reporting period and no small debt amounts that is
less than $2.00 written off at the end of the financial year. All other outstanding rates and charges were
carried forward to the 2022–2023 financial year.

1.15  Environmental Upgrade Agreements
The Norfolk Island Regional Council has not entered into any Environmental Upgrade Agreements in
accordance with any requirements imposed under s406. (Local Government Act s54P).

1.16 Report on Capital Works Projects 
The following capital works were undertaken during the financial year.

1.17 Works on Private Land
Council passed no resolutions under Section67(2)(b) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW)(NI) to
fully or partly subsidise work on private land; therefore, there are no resolutions to summarise under
section 67 concerning work carried out on private land.

1.18 Report on Special Variation Expenditure if Required to do
so by the Instrument Made by the Minister
There has been no special variation expenditure in the 2021–2022 financial year.



Detailed statement on activities relating to enforcing and ensuring compliance with the Companion
Animals Act and Regulation [Companion Animals Act 1998 (NSW) and Companion Animals
Regulation 2008 (NSW) do not apply to Norfolk Island].
Particulars of compliance with and effect of planning agreements in force during the year
[Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW) does not apply to Norfolk Island].
Councils must prepare an annual report on the public authority’s obligations under the Public
Interest Disclosure Act 1994 (NSW) for submission to the Minister responsible for the public
authority. A copy of the report is to be provided to the Ombudsman. [Public Interest Disclosure Act
1994 (NSW) and Regulation do not apply to Norfolk Island].
Councils considered to be ‘human service agencies’ under the Carers Recognition Act 2010 (NSW)
(i.e. councils that provide services directed at carers and/or people being cared for by carers) must
report on compliance with the Act for the reporting period [Carers Recognition Act 2010 (NSW) does
not apply to Norfolk Island].
Recovery and threat abatement plans – Councils identified in a plan as responsible for
implementation of measures included in the plan, to report on actions taken to implement
measures as to the state of the environment in its area [Fisheries Management Act 1994 (NSW)
does not apply to Norfolk Island].
Information on the implementation of Council’s Disability Inclusion Plan [Disability Inclusion Act
2014 (NSW) does not apply to Norfolk Island].
Details of inspections of private swimming pools [Swimming Pools Act 1992 (NSW) does not apply to
Norfolk Island].
A statement detailing the stormwater management services provided (if levied) – not levied by
Council.
A statement detailing the coastal protection services provided (if levied) – not levied by Council.

1.19 Other Statutory Reporting Requirements
It is a requirement under the Local Government Act 1993 (NI)(NSW) and General Regulation for Councils
to also report on the below, however, the Norfolk Island Regional Council has not reported on these
items as either the Norfolk Island Regional Council does not provide or levy such services, or the
legislation that these requirements refer to does not currently apply to Norfolk Island:

1.20  Audited Financial Reports
Audited Financial Reports for the 2021–2022 financial year were received at Council’s December 2022
Ordinary Meeting of Council and are provided as an appendix to this report.

Please see Appendix 2.
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FIGURE 1.

According to Wikipedia, an
annual report is a
comprehensive report on a
company's activities
throughout the preceding
year.
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Energy, Transport, Utilities and Resources
Waste
Sustainable Food from the Land and Sea
Clean Water in our Tanks and Marine Area
Population Planning and Retaining Open Spaces
Biodiversity

State of the Environment Report
The first State of the Environment Report (2017-2021) for Norfolk Island was produced in April
2022. This was following extensive data collection and drafting by NIRC staff and contractors.
The report was based on the framework developed in the Norfolk Island Environment Strategy
in 2018 and includes the following themes:

While the report highlighted the incredible natural values that are unique to Norfolk Island, it
found that a number of key environmental indicators remain poor or are deteriorating. This
includes use of groundwater, contamination of surface waters and groundwater, impacts to
marine life in the Emily Bay/Slaughter Bay marine 
lagoon, historic removal of native vegetation and 
critically low numbers of some native bird species, 
such as the Norfolk Island Morepork. A number of 
recommendations were made for improved data 
collection, which have already been implemented. 
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Planning and Environment

NORFOLK ISLAND REGIONAL COUNCIL
ACHIEVEMENTS 

This section provides an outline of Norfolk Island Regional Council's achievements in
implementing its Operational Plan 2021-2022.

A detailed report of Council’s progress is presented in Appendix 1 of this Annual Report.

A copy of the 2016/17 - 2020/21 State of the
Environment Report can be found on Council's website
at: http://www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/state-environment
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Waste Management System Options Analysis
Assisted by the services of Anne Prince Consulting, Council undertook a strategic review of its
waste management practices to inform cessation of ocean disposal of solid waste and to find
the most sustainable form of waste management for a remote island community with no
landfill. 

Following community consultation in early 2022 on a series of options, it was recommended by
the NIRC Sustainability Advisory Committee that a circular economy approach to waste
management on Norfolk Island should be implemented. This includes recycling of a number of
waste streams to create products for the island economy, such as glass sand aggregate using
plastics and other additives and biochar from cardboard for use in creation of quality compost. 

Following adoption of this strategy in March 2022, Council was successful in securing $3.2
million in funding for new waste and recycling equipment. This includes critical infrastructure
to process waste that was previously disposed of at Headstone. Council has also engaged a
waste management contractor to establish circular economy practices in the management of
domestic and commercial waste on Norfolk Island.

Image: Shredder/Grinder for processing green waste and construction & demolition waste – note, procured

machine is the smaller model, Teuton Z50
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$3.2 million in waste and recycling equipment
$1.8 million in design and costings for a new Wastewater Treatment Plant
$2.8 million over a 4-year period to continue eradication of the Argentine Ant from Norfolk
Island

Funding for Critical Environmental Projects
Council was successful during the Operational Plan period in obtaining funding for a number
of key environmental projects. This includes:

In addition to this, Council was successful in having the Environment Program integrated into
the Service Delivery Agreement (SDA) with the Commonwealth. This is expected to deliver over
$700,000 in environmental and biodiversity improvements in the Public Reserves.

2021-22 Community Activities
Council held six (6) community planting days, with over 30 different species and
approximately 1,120 trees planted in total.

22/8/21 – Bumbora Reserve – along the creek
15/9/21 – Selwyn Reserve – Puppies point – Mathew Flinders College
26/9/21 – Quarantine Reserve – along the creek
26/6/22 – Quarantine reserve – along the creek
21/6/22 – Anson Bay Reserve– around the picnic area
15/3/22 – Bumbora Reserve – top of hill

Coral Berry Crusaders – volunteer weeding group that meet every Wednesday morning from
9am – 12:30pm in Hundred Acre Reserve.
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New Public Library
A new Public Library, funded by the Commonwealth Government as part of the economic
Stimulus Package, opened in October 2022 in the Bicentennial Complex (pictured). 
The new Public Library opened on 15 October. The reaction to the space by members has
been an overwhelmingly positive one. 

The new facility was made possible by Economic Stimulus funding received from the
Commonwealth Government. The modern space will enable the Council to increase the
number, and range, of services it can offer the community. Already, three public PCs have
been installed in the Library to allow the community - and visitors - access to free Wi-Fi. 

Council wishes to acknowledge the incredible work of all those involved in the build of the new
facility, Council also wishes to thank the staff who worked tirelessly to complete the move. 

The Library has a great selection of non-fiction and fiction books as well as Norfolk Island
reference material. 

Customer Care
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Library School Holiday Program

In April 2022 the Council ran its first ever School Holiday Program. Three local Authors; Sarah
Robinson, Annie Kenny and Susan Prior gave their time to read their children’s books to school
age children and to teach how the books were illustrated. Mitti the Duck made an appearance.

To encourage young people’s participation in Council activities and community service
initiatives.
To assist the Council in the planning, development, integration and implementation of
government policy and programs effecting young people. 
To assist the Council in the identification of current interests of young people on Norfolk
Island. 
To support and promote activities and special projects which relate to young people living on,
or visiting Norfolk Island. 
To consult with young persons, community groups and Council on issues and policies affecting
Youth. 
To assist in planning for youth events and activities, for example, Youth Week. 

Youth Advisory Committee 

In June 2022 the Youth Advisory Committee was formed. The committee is made up of 12
students from years 11 and 12.

The objectives of the committee are:

The committee meet quarterly and a copy of the Terms of Reference can be found on Council's
website at http://www.norfolkisland.gov.nf/your-council/council-advisory-committees

https://www.canva.com/link?target=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolkisland.gov.nf%2Fyour-council%2Fcouncil-advisory-committees&design=DAFQ3eDspEU&accessRole=owner&linkSource=comment
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Ports Management
New Lighterage Vessels
Council worked in unison with Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional
Development, Communications and the Arts to identify, procure and deliver two new
lighterage vessels to Norfolk Island. 

Tek Oceans specialised deep water equipment vessel Ocean Spirit, was contracted to deliver
the new vessels to Norfolk Island on behalf of Council. Ocean Spirit arrived inside Norfolk
Island waters on the evening of the 30th of April 2022. After careful consideration and
consultation with the Ocean Spirits Master, Senior Lighterage and Stevedore teams, the
Commonwealth and Council; a collective decision was made to extract the vessels and
associated trailers on Sunday 1st May 2022. 

Infrastructure Services

Operation of New Lighterage Vessels
Council worked in unison with department of
infrastructure to identify, procure and deliver two
new lighterage vessels to Norfolk Island. 

Tek Oceans specialised deep water equipment
vessel Ocean Spirit, was contracted to deliver the
new vessels to Norfolk Island on behalf of
Council. Ocean Spirit arrived inside Norfolk Island
waters on the evening of the 30th of April 2022.
After careful consideration and consultation with
the Ocean Spirits Master, Senior Lighterage and
Stevedore teams, the Commonwealth and
Council; a collective decision was made to extract
the vessels and associated trailers on Sunday 1st
May 2022. 

Both boats were loaded into the ocean, with
Norfolk Supplier 1 responsible for delivering
both trailers to shore at Kingston.This occurred
over the course of the day. 

First operation of the vessels, trailer delivery,
and extraction of all equipment was a success. 
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Museum Engagement - Old Lighterage Vessels
Over the course of Q4 21-22, the Commonwealth and Council engaged with the Norfolk Island
Museum Trust to provide and purpose a place and purpose for the old lighterage Launch’s and
Lighters.

Council recognises the inherent community significance of the old lighterage service and would
like to partner with the Commonwealth and Museums to ensure the service is considered in
future displays.

Establishment of Ports & Ports Transport Committee Meeting
The inaugural Ports Committee Meeting and Ports Transport Committee Meetings were held in
June 2022. Attendees including council, agency, Stevedores and Lighterage crew. There were a
number of positive operational outcomes from the inaugural meetings, with continued plans
for ongoing improvements and operational outcomes in 2022-23.

Ports Safety
Significant investment has been made in the ports safety space. Lighterage have been
equipped with all the modern safety gear appropriate for Lighterage operations. This includes
Personal Protection Equipment (PPE), and additional operation equipment.

Further training and assessment will begin in Q1 22-23 which will result in Coxswain, Crane,
Forklift, Port Security Officer, and Dangerous Goods training being undertaken by Lighterage
Crew.
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Maritime Security Plan – 5 Year Approval
Council is pleased to announce that with the recent upgrades to the Maritime Security Plan,
the Department of Home Affairs has granted NIRC a 5 Year approval. 

This approval saves Council significant time and funding annually to prepare and lodge the
reports required for approval. 

Ball Bay Roll On Roll Off (RORO) Process
Council went to market for the design and construction of a RORO Facility at Ball Bay. Through
an extensive EOI and Tender process, Wagner Group were selected as the successful
proponent. Council is progressing designs with Wagners, with the intention of securing funding
in the 2022-23 year to build the facility.

Ball Bay Fuel Pipeline
The new Ball Bay Fuel Pipeline connecting the fuel facility with the shipping connection point is
almost complete. After some delays regarding jurisdiction of the path of the pipeline, the
construction is nearing completion at the end of 21-22 FY.

Bi-Centennial Building
The Bi-Centennial project was significantly completed through 21-22 FY. The upgraded Council
chambers and new staff office is a step change in administration operation on Norfolk Island,
with construction of the main building completed on-time. 

The lower level of the building consists of the General Manager and Administrators offices,
along with Customer Care, Records and Community Rooms. The Second level is complete with
a large kitchen and open deck space for visitors and events.  In addition, the new offices are
complete with a significant number of workstations, meeting rooms, and offices for Managers.

Technological
advances will be
implemented
early 22-23 FY
with all staff
excited with the
new facility. 
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Bomboras Reserve
Following the 2020-21FY addition
of the boardwalk to Bomboras
Reserve, Council have continued its
plan to upgrade the facility by
bitumen sealing the access road,
and trimming multiple access and
egress points in and around the
reserve. 

The upgrading and sealing of the
access road and circle was
achieved. During the upgrade the
road crews successfully navigated
weather events which impacted on
the ability to lay emulsion for the
bitumen sealing.  Other factors
such as the steepness of the road
incline provided the Engineering
team with the opportunity for
some creative thinking to complete
the works.  

Council is pleased to inform that
the integrity of the work was
uniformed and maintained through
experienced workmanship. The
access road is now completed to
the highest possible standard with
the materials available on Island.
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Street Lights – Round About Ferny
Lane & Taylors Road
January 2022 Articles 
Our new solar street lights have been installed
at the roundabout in town. Purposely
constructed and angled to light up the
intersection and surrounding footpaths while
still adhering to our Dark Sky commitments,
they make a beautiful addition to the
streetscape. 

The solar lights were in their first night of
operation on 21 January 2022 and are
functioning as expected, we are all very pleased
with their look and output.

Our Dark Sky commitment to reducing light
pollution reminds us of the beauty and
importance of darkness and night skies for our
wellbeing and environment.

Using the power of the sun and reducing our
use of diesel-powered electricity, brings a two-
fold bonus to our town and contributes to our
goal of 100% renewable energy by 2025.
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Taylors Road Upgrade
The largest undertaking of road upgrades since the
airport refurbishment has now been complete.

With the completion of the foot path from the airport
to Taylors Road, Council sought to increase the
accessibility and general overall improvement of
parking pavement along Taylors Road to enhance the
attractiveness of the Burnt Pine Town Centre for locals
and tourists alike. 

As the most readily accessible space on the island,
Council undertook the majority of works at night to
save impact on traffic pedestrians, and businesses in
general. Over the course of December 2021, road
crews worked nights and weekends to complete this
upgrade, which has improved access to businesses,
community buildings and overall parking pavement
from the RSL Club through to the ‘Village’, and all the
way to the airport. 

This ambitious upgrade project has seen Council
improve the areas through a combination of grading,
re-levelling, shaping, adding specialised aggregate,
pressure rolling and emulsion sealing to create a
smooth and accessible pavement surface. 

As a cost saving and efficiency measure, Council were
able to negotiate with the Roads Crew to work nights
at no additional cost to the Council. We thank the
Roads Crew for their continued commitment and
expertise shown in this endeavour and we compliment
the entire depot on a job well done. 

Council would like to thank all businesses and the
broader community who worked together on this
project. The results have produced a great outcome
for the Norfolk Island community.
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$1.49 Million COVID assistance payment
delivered to 86 local businesses

The Australian Government and Norfolk Island
Regional Council have worked together over the
past twelve months to provide financial
assistance payments to businesses on Norfolk
Island that have been impacted by COVID 19.

Since August 2021 the COVID Business Relief
Grant Program has distributed $1,492,000 in
funding to 86 businesses on the Island. This
relief scheme was designed to support local
businesses experiencing hardship caused by the
downturn in visitors due to widespread COVID-
19 lockdowns and travel restrictions across
Australia. The program is similar to other
programs being delivered to COVID-19 affected
communities across Australia.

Economic Development
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Airport Upgrade Complete
Council received a Regional Airports Infrastructure Grant of $75,000 with a further contribution
from Council of $25,000 to support the upgrade of screening infrastructure at Norfolk Island
Airport. These enhanced security screening equipment upgrades were a recently introduced
minimum capital works requirement for Australian Regional Airports. 

Work commenced behind schedule in April 2021 due to building material shortages on the
island – unfortunately this meant original deadlines agreed with the Department of Home
Affairs had to be extended a number of times. Additionally with COVID impacting travel from
NSW to Norfolk the project was faced with further challenges in getting the installation
technicians to the island. 

Despite all of these headwinds, the new upgrade was successfully completed (including both
the accommodating airport renovations and the new security screening system install) on
Thursday 11 November 2021. 

This successful installation of this Security Screening Equipment came about from an
outstanding effort and work performed by the local Norfolk work team thankfully project
managed by Dave Porter. Thanks also to the flexibility shown by the various Government
Departments we were working with given the challenges outlined.
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Phase 2 saw a greater reach and lower CPC, highlighting that the shorter videos focusing
on specific interests were well-received by the target audience.
Outdoors was the most popular theme for the target audience, driving the highest number
of clicks and lowest CPC. Creative was self-optimising on Facebook and Instagram. Due to
the success of the creative execution, it was also the video shown to the most consumers.
Facebook achieved a video ad recall of 26,000 with a cost per result of $0.07 and Instagram
achieved a video ad recall of 650 with a cost per result of $0.06.

Insights

In summary, the 11 week campaign reached 850,143 people (11% more than the campaign
target). The campaign drove a total of 3,251 clicks to the destination website and achieved
excellent results, exceeding all targets and providing destination awareness to a younger
demographic.

Phase 1 (15s video) - objective was to boost awareness of the breadth of Norfolk Island's
experiences targeting Gen X on the eastern seaboard.
Phase 2 (3 x 6s videos - Outdoor/History/General) -  objective was to boost awareness of
specific experiences on Norfolk Island and Drive clicks through to NIT website

Destination Awarenesss Digital Campaign

Norfolk Island Tourism launched a digital advertising campaign across Facebook and
Instagram with the goal to boost destination awareness. The promotion ran from 15
November 2021 to 31 January 2022 and consisted of two phases.
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Corporate and Finance

Engaging 4 specified positions from within the existing approved establishment to be based
in Brisbane, being two accountants & two governance positions 
Engagement is on a 4 day week 
Ability to engage a highly skilled LG market of quality candidates 
Shifting the full risk profile from Council to Peak for the engagement 
Arrangement is for a 12 month period – with no risk of employee turnover, replacement,
separation 
Set up costs in first year, not repeated if we need to extend arrangement beyond 12
months - $17K

Resourcing agreement with Peak Services

A resourcing agreement was entered into with peak Services during October 2021. The extract
below from the October 2021 ECM provides a summary of the agreement and its objectives. 

There are a number of sections of Council that are under resourced to really have any positive
effect on the TtoS program that has been adopted. There have been commitments made to the
Department that need to be met, and the only way this can occur is to provide resource
support for at least a period of 12 months. 

Council has traditionally struggled to engage skilled local government practitioners, and for
short period of 12 months, this would be even harder. 

Peak Services is located inside Local Government House in Newstead Brisbane, where over 200
local government employees operate as the State’s peak body. Due to the unique
circumstances NIRC finds itself in with the pressures of change management, it would be an
innovative step to engage directly with the peak LG body in Queensland to help resolve these
issues. 

Following a number of weeks of negotiating with Peak Services, the resource support arm of
the LGAQ, below is the proposal to move NIRC towards addressing a number of issues raised in
the adopted EAF’s, and the Transition to Sustainability (TtoS) program adopted earlier this year. 

The proposal is for a Resource model, and can be summarised by the following points: 

The arrangement has worked well in terms of professional and continuity of service.
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Procurement
Stores and inventory management
Revenue assurance
Project and contract management

Audit program
Council’s audit environment incorporates an annual external audit, an ongoing internal audit
program and quarterly meetings of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee (ARIC).

External audit
Council’s external auditors Pitcher Partners issued an unmodified audit opinion on the 2021
financial statements during April 2022. Pitcher Partners decided they were not able to continue
in the role and as such, Council went to market to appoint a new auditor. Forsyths Business
Services were appointed on the 12th of August 2022 for a six year period.

Internal audit
Council continues to use Pacifica Chartered Accountants to undertake the internal audit
function. The following parcels of work were undertaken during the 2022 financial year.

All recommendations have been endorsed and are being progressed.

Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee
The Committee met five times during the year as follows.

• 26 August 2021 – Quarterly work program
• 10 November 2021 – Quarterly work program
• 10 February 2022 – Quarterly work program
• 29 April 2022 – 2021 audited financial statements
• 12 May 2022 – Quarterly work program

In addition to the work conducted as per the ARIC Charter, the meetings are also attended by
the external auditors, internal auditors and the Council Administrator as required.
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Progress on implementing the external audit and public enquiry findings

Council has been working towards progressing the implementation of the External Audit Findings
(EAFs). 

Quarterly progress updates on the implementation of the External Audit Findings (EAFs), 113
Findings which were adopted by Council on 24 February 2021 (Resolution No: 2021/3), and the 7
broad findings of the Public Enquiry that were noted by Council at the Extraordinary General
Meeting on 21 December 2021. 

The Council continued to report quarterly on the progress of the EAFs over the 2021/2022
reporting period. 

Use of technology to enhance reporting

Council has adopted the Envisio platform by which to report on the External Audit Findings and
the Service Delivery Agreement. This reporting tool brings greater access and flexibility to real
time updates and departmental reporting.
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Strategic Direction (SD) 01 An Environmentally Sustainable Community  
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 1 – Use and manage our resources wisely 
• Objective (OBJ) 2 – Preserve a healthy environment   
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
 

CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan 2021-2022   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 
01 2 24 8(d) PE1. Form and 

lead a Norfolk 
Island Water 
Quality 
Working 
Group 

PE1.1 Development of NI 
Water Quality Working Group 
Objectives 

Working Group Terms of Reference 
or equivalent by 30 September 2021 

PR Overarching objectives and outcomes of the Water 
Quality Working Group over a 1 to 5-year timeframe 
developed by DITRDC in consultation with NIRC and 
Parks Australia (Marine). Developed in August 2021. 

 PE1.2 Conduct routine NI 
Water Quality Working Group 
meetings, including key 
stakeholders 

Minimum 6 NI Water Quality Work 
Group meetings by 30 June 2022 

PR 13 Water Quality Working Group meetings held in FY21, 
involving NIRC, DITRDC, Office of the Administrator and 
Parks Australia (Marine) with visiting consultants and 
academics involvement on occasions. 

 PE1.3 Communicate regularly 
with the community on NI 
Water Quality Working Group 
activities 

Publish minimum 6 media releases 
from NI Water Quality Working 
Group in local media and socials by 
30 June 2022 

PR One factsheet produced, printed and released by the 
WQWG to the community in April 2022. In addition to 
this, 7 media releases were produced and released to 
the community across a range of water quality topics 
including onsite wastewater management systems, 
water quality in Emily Bay and review and release of the 
updated Development Control Plan for Water Resources 
(DCP 2). 

 PE1.4 Assist in implementation 
of actions to improve water 
quality in downstream 
catchments on NI 

Drafting of incentives program 
and/or plan for septic pump-outs 
and/or wetland improvement plan, 
and partial implementation of 
program or plan by 30 June 2022 

PR Incomplete. No incentive program was developed for 
improvement to onsite wastewater management 
systems was developed as funding was not available. No 
program for septic pump-outs was established. Some 
wetland improvements completed by DITRDC in KAVHA 
(leaky weirs). 
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CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan 2021-2022   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 
 PE1.5 Continue to advocate 

for protection of ecological 
and cultural values in KAVHA 
catchment and around marine 
waters with Commonwealth 
agencies, with view to seeking 
contribution of funding for 
capital upgrades to improve 
wastewater and waste 
management 

Develop funding model for 
wastewater management 
improvements with Commonwealth  
by December 2021 
 

PR $1.8M in funding provided by the Commonwealth in 
June 2022, specifically for the development of design 
and costings for an upgraded Wastewater Treatment 
Plan for the Water Assurance Scheme. This was 
following the development of a funding model for the 
future upgrade of the plant, presented to the 
Commonwealth. Delivery of design and costings for the 
plant upgrade will form the basis for a funding bid for 
the capital infrastructure. $3.2m of waste equipment 
also granted by the Commonwealth to manage solid 
waste, including the cessation of ocean waste disposal. 

01 2 24 8(d) PE2. Develop 
an Onsite 
Wastewater 
System 
Inspection 
Program 

PE2.1 Develop a NI-specific 
Onsite Wastewater System 
Standard 

Finalised standard for Onsite 
Wastewater Systems by 31 
December 2021 

PR Rapid Assessment for onsite wastewater management 
systems developed as part of the DCP 2 review and 
release. This was delivered in March 2022. 

 PE2.2 Develop an Inspection 
Program model for 
consultation with the 
community 

Draft Inspection Program completed 
by 31 March 2022 

PR A preliminary inspection program for onsite wastewater 
management systems was developed in December 2021, 
with a focus on the KAVHA area. By 30 June 2022, 11 
properties were inspected. This is despite not having a 
legislated inspection program established under the 
Local Government Act (NSW) (NI) 1993. 

 PE2.3 Consult with the 
community on the Onsite 
Wastewater System 
Inspection Program, including, 
approvals, inspection 
frequencies and cost recovery 
models 

Media releases in local paper and 
consultation paper available at 
Customer Care by 30 June 2022 

PR A media release was provided to the community on the 
intent to commence an onsite wastewater management 
system inspection program on 11 November 2021. 
Subsequently a number of letters were sent to 
landholders in the KAVHA catchment regarding 
inspections. This was followed up with phone calls to 
schedule inspection times. It was noted that at least 6 
landholders refused entry to perform the inspections. 

 PE2.4 Finalise Onsite 
Wastewater System 
Inspection Program, ready for 
roll-out 

Finalised Onsite Wastewater System 
Inspection Program by 30 June 2022 

PR As per PE2.2. 
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 PE2.5 Update and seek 

resolution on DCP 2 - Water 
to include the updated NI-
specific Onsite Wastewater 
System Standard 

Council resolution on updated DCP 2 
- Water including Onsite Wastewater 
System Standard by 31 March 2022 

PR As per PE2.1 

01 2 24 8(d) PE3. Updated 
legislation 
regulating 
Onsite Septic 
Systems and 
connection to 
Water 
Assurance 
Scheme 

PE3.1 Collaborate with 
DITRDC Legal Division to 
advise on legislative updates 

Discussion Paper and 
correspondence prepared and 
provided to DITRDC Legal Division on 
legislative changes by 30 September 
2021 

PR Council advice on onsite wastewater management 
system regulation provided to DITRDC by 30 September 
2021. Subsequent document provided by DITRDC on 
legal recommendations on 19 November 2021. 

 PE3.2 Incorporate legislative 
amendments into process to 
enforce compliance of 
existing developments with 
updated Onsite Wastewater 
System Standard (DCP 2 - 
Water) 

Inclusion of mechanism in legislation 
that enforces retrospective upgrade 
to Onsite Wastewater Systems by 30 
June 2022 (note this Performance 
Measure is reliant on DITRDC action) 

PR DITRDC potential legal changes document includes 
provisions for enforceable upgrades to existing onsite 
wastewater management systems. 

01 2 25 1(a) PE4. Develop 
funding model 
for 
Wastewater 
Treatment 
Plant upgrade 
and WAS 
extension 

PE4.1 Develop draft funding 
model in consultation with 
the Commonwealth for 
NIRC/Commonwealth co-
contribution to upgrade 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Draft funding model document 
completed by 31 March 2022 

PR Draft funding model developed and presented to the 
August 2021 Council meeting. Recommendation for a 
80/20 split in capital funding from the Commonwealth 
and Council respectively was adopted and subsequently 
provided to the Commonwealth for support. Formal 
support was provided through $1.8M in funding for 
design and costings, with capital funding pending. 

 PE4.2 Obtain funding 
commitment from 
Commonwealth on upgrade 
to Wastewater Treatment 
Plant and WAS Extension 

Documented agreement to 
contribute to upgrade of Wastewater 
Treatment Plant and WAS Extension 
by 30 June 2022 (note this 
Performance Measure is reliant on 
DITRDC action) 

PR As per PE4.1, financial support for design and costings 
provided by June 2022. No commitment to capital 
funding to date. 
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01 2 N/A 8(f) PE5. Develop 

'Beachwatch'-
style water 
quality and 
communicatio
n program 

PE5.1 Develop Beachwatch-
style program to advise 
community of exposure to 
potential health risks 
associated with swimming in 
bays and beaches around the 
island following rain, including 
traffic light-style system. 

Completed program, including 
triggers for community notification 
by 31 December 2021 

PR Traffic light system developed and available on the NIRC 
Facebook page. This was delivered by February 2022. 

  PE5.2 Implement 
corresponding page on NIRC 
website with mechanism for 
Facebook updates where WQ 
is predicted to be unhealthy 

Completed NIRC webpage dedicated 
to Beachwatch-style program by 31 
December 2021 

PR Webpage not yet developed. Currently available on the 
NIRC Facebook page and delivered by February 2022. 

 PE5.3 Commence roll-out of 
program to keep community 
informed of water quality 
hazards when swimming in 
various bays and beaches 
around the island 

Communication, where triggered, in 
accordance with program by 31 
December 2021 

PR No formal roll-out completed. However, routine 
updates were and are provided on Facebook as water 
quality conditions in Emily and Slaughter Bay changes. 

01 2 27 8(d) PE7. All waste 
and recyclable 
material at 
NIRC Waste 
Management 
Centre 

PE7.1 Develop appropriate 
waste receival area and 
process for builders rubble 
and other waste currently 
received at Headstone 

Completed bulk waste receival area 
at WMC by 31 March 2022 

PR Waste Processing Area developed by November 2021 to 
receive bulky/construction and demolition waste 
following the closure of Headstone. 

 PE7.2 Communicate to the 
community, including local 
building industry, on changes 
to waste receival practices, 
including opportunities to 
salvage reusable builders 
material 

Publish media, including newspaper 
and social media, on changes to 
waste management practices by 31 
March 2022 

PR Individual meetings held with local contractors on 
changes to waste management disposal practices. 
Media releases on waste management updates 
provided on 29 October, 12 and 19 November 2021. 

 PE7.3 Close Headstone Waste 
Facility to the Public 

Headstone Facility closed to the 
Public and advertising, signage and 
operations hours removed by 31 
March 2022 

PR Headstone Facility closed to the public from 23 
November 2021, including removal of signage.  
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 PE7.4 Consult with NIRC 

Sustainability Advisory 
Committee on changes to 
explore opportunities for 
circular economy initiatives to 
redirect builder's waste from 
landfill or ocean disposal 

Agenda items raised, discussed and 
minuted in Sustainability Advisory 
Group meeting/s by 31 March 2022 

PR Options for management of bulky/construction and 
demolition waste included in Waste Management 
Systems Options Analysis, developed by Anne Prince 
Consulting, and presented to the Sustainability Advisory 
Committee in February 2022. 

01 2 28 8(d) PE8. Develop 
and 
commence 
implementatio
n of updated 
5-year Waste 
Management 
Strategy 

PE8.1 Review and extract 
recommendations from 
Waste Assessment 
component of the 
Environmental Assessment 

Recommendations from 
Environmental Assessment reviewed 
and discussed by NIRC staff by 30 
September 2021  

PR Findings of the Norfolk Island Waste Management 
Systems Audit, part of the Environmental Assessment, 
reviewed by NIRC staff and included in the Waste 
Management Systems Options Analysis conducted by 
Anne Prince Consulting. 

 PE8.2 Develop draft Waste 
Management Strategy, 
including most appropriate 
waste management options, 
asset management strategy, 
sustainable cost model and 
incentivisation for reduction 
in waste generation 

Updated Draft Waste Management 
Strategy, including most appropriate 
waste management options, asset 
management by March 2022 

PR Waste Management Systems Options Analysis 
developed by Anne Prince Consulting, consulted on with 
the community in February 2022 and finalised in March 
2022. Circular Economy approach with some waste 
export supported by the community and the 
Sustainability Advisory Committee. 

 PE8.3 Consult with the 
community on the Draft 
Waste Management Strategy 
and communicate steps 
required to cease disposal of 
waste to the ocean 

Exhibition period for updated Draft 
Waste Management Strategy by 31 
March 2022 

PR Community consultation on the Waste Management 
Systems Options Analysis conducted in February 2022. 

 PE8.4 Finalise and have 
Council adopt Waste 
Management Strategy for 
progressive 5-year 
implementation 

Finalised updated Waste 
Management Strategy by 30 June 
2022 

PR Following community consultation and 
recommendation by the Sustainability Advisory 
Committee, resolved at March Council meeting to 
implement Circular Economy approach for waste 
management, with some waste export. 

 PE8.5 Conduct tender process 
for delivery of waste disposal 
service, with scope to match 

Tender process completed and 
preferred tenderer selected by 30 
June 2022 (Note – this performance 

PR Tender process for domestic and commercial waste 
conducted Q3 FY22. Resolved at June Council meeting 
to award tender to Revolve Your World. Note – 
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preferred waste disposal 
options 

measure requires completion of port 
infrastructure for containerised 
waste) 

containerisation of waste, in particular bulky waste, was 
not completed and does not form part of the domestic 
and commercial waste management contract service. 

 PE8.6 Secure agreement with 
appropriate provider for 
transport, delivery and 
disposal of waste, including 
biosecurity and customs 
arrangements for those waste 
streams sent to mainland 
Australia 

Signed agreement with relevant 
provider for waste management 
transport and disposal services by 30 
June 2022 (Note – this performance 
measure requires completion of port 
infrastructure for containerised 
waste) 

PR As per PE8.5. 

 PE8.7 Where appropriate, 
seek contribution from 
DITRDC/Commonwealth to 
manage waste in order to 
protect Marine Park 

Communication with DITRDC on 
assistance required to appropriately 
manage waste on island by 30 June 
2022 

PR $3.2M in funding obtained from the Commonwealth for 
waste and recycling equipment. This includes 
equipment to process waste to end ocean disposal of 
solid waste, e.g., glass crusher, shredder/grinder. 

01 2 26 8(d) PE9. 
Development 
of Waste 
Education 
Program 

PE9.1 Incorporate waste 
education into 5-year Waste 
Management Strategy 

Education included in updated Waste 
Management Strategy 

PR Adopted option for waste management includes 
community engagement and education.  

 PE9.2 Develop Waste 
Education Program and 
Schedule of key waste 
minimisation, avoidance, 
recycling and reuse 
opportunities 

Communication and consultation 
program developed for waste 
management issues by 31 December 
2021 

PR No formal waste communications and consultation 
program developed. However, 10 media releases were 
produced on waste management changes and 
information. A home waste sorting guide was also 
developed and released to the community during the 
consultation on the Waste Management Systems 
Options Analysis in February 2022. 

 PE9.3 Consult with NIRC 
Sustainability Advisory 
Committee on Waste 
Education Program content 
and delivery 

Agenda item and minute from 
Advisory Committee on Waste 
Education by 31 December 2021 

PR Preferred waste management option supported by the 
Sustainability Advisory Committee included improved 
education on waste management. 

 PE9.4 Implement Program 
according to schedule, e.g. 
monthly messaging 

Media releases and social media 
regarding waste 
management/minimisation  

PR As per PE9.2. 
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01 2 N/A 8(d) PE10. 

Eliminate the 
use of single 
use plastics in 
NIRC 
Operations 
and events on 
Council land 

PE10.1 Conduct audit on use 
of single use plastics in 
Council operations and events 
on Council land 

Audit report or memo on single use 
plastic use in NIRC operations by 31 
March 2022 

PR Not commenced. Conducted alternate audit and report 
on glass waste and preferred collection method with 
local businesses. 

 PE10.2 Extend audit to 
include selection of local 
businesses, including 
businesses that have actively 
reduced or eliminated single 
use plastics 

Audit report or memo on single use 
plastic use in local businesses by 31 
March 2022 

PR Not commenced. Conducted alternate audit and report 
on glass waste and preferred collection method with 
local businesses. 

 PE10.3 Consult with NIRC 
Sustainability Advisory 
Committee on findings of 
audit 

Presentation of audit to Advisory 
Committee by 31 March 2022 

PR As per PE10.2. 

 PE10.4 Incorporate 
mandatory conditions in 
permits for use of Council 
land, prohibiting single use 
plastics 

All permits for events in Public 
Reserves to include condition 
prohibiting the use of single-use 
plastics 31 December 2021 

PR Complete. Standard condition incorporated into all 
controlled action permits for Public Reserves. 

 PE10.5 Facilitate importation 
of single use plastic 
alternatives for food vendors, 
SoF premises and other 
businesses. 

Reliable supply of single-use plastics 
alternatives identified and supply to 
island facilitated by 30 June 2022 
(Note – this performance measure 
relies on support from local 
businesses) 

PR Preliminary discussions held with local supermarket to 
identify alternate single use/disposable compostable 
utensils and plates, with regard to supplying to major 
events. Not yet confirmed of reliable source of alternate 
to single use plastics is available. 

 PE10.6 Consider discussion 
paper on single use plastic 
ban for Sale of Food premises, 
to be mandated through 
Council resolution or by-law. 

Discussion Paper on By Law or similar 
prohibiting single use plastic sale by 
vendors by 30 June 2022 

PR Not commenced. 

01 1 N/A N/A PE11. 
Augment 
Existing NIRC 

PE11.1 Pursue funding from 
Commonwealth for increased 
rainwater infrastructure to 

Proposal to DITRDC for additional 
rainwater storage at NIRC 
infrastructure  

PR Building Better Regions Funding Water Security Project 
successful in obtaining grant, including the installation 
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Rainwater 
Infrastructure 

satisfy NIRC operational water 
needs and supply the 
community during drought 
periods 

of over 2 megalitres of water connected to existing 
Council buildings. 

 PE11.2 Install additional 
rainwater tanks with a 
minimum of 150 kl on council 
infrastructure 

Minimum 150 kl rainwater capacity 
installed at NIRC infrastructure by 30 
June 2022 

PR 200 kilolitres of water installed at the fire station as a 
result of PFAS remediation of fire station infrastructure. 

01 1 N/A 1(c) PE12. Update 
DCP 2 - Water 
to include 
minimum 
standards on 
rainwater 
infrastructure 
for new 
developments 

PE12.1 Update draft DCP 2 to 
incorporate clear water 
capacity requirements for 
various types of development. 

Draft Updated DCP 2 completed by 
30 September 2021 

PR DCP 2, including change to rainwater requirements for 
new developments, finalised and operational in March 
2022. 

 PE12.2 Consult with 
community on draft DCP 2 
and incorporate feedback 
where this assists in meeting 
the objectives of the NI Plan. 
 

DCP put out to community for public 
comment by 30 September 2021 

PR Community consultation on DCP 2 conducted via 
exhibition of the draft DCP in August 2021. Individual 
engagement was also conducted with local 
tradespeople to receive feedback before finalisation. 

 PE12.3 Seek Council 
resolution on final updates to 
DCP 2. 

Council resolution on updates to DCP 
2 including appropriate rainwater 
infrastructure changes by 31 
December 2021 

PR As per PE 12.1. 

01 1 N/A 1(c) PE13. 
Feasibility 
Assessment 
on 
construction 
of a new dam 
or alternative 
medium to 
large scale 
water 

PE13.1 Engage an engineering 
consultant to consider the 
high level water security 
outcomes of the CSIRO report 
and develop technical 
feasibility of either new dam, 
cluster rainwater farm or 
other water resource 
infrastructure 

Completed Feasibility Assessment on 
2-3 community-level water resource 
options by 31 March 2022 

PR Not commenced. 
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resource 
option 

 PE13.2 Consult with 
community on preferred 
options for augmenting 
community water supply 

Community Consultation on 
preferred water resource option 
completed by 30 June 2022 

PR  Not commenced. 

01 2 N/A 3(d) PE14. 
Implementati
on of 
Biosecurity 
Management 
Plan in 
accordance 
with First 
Point of Entry 
requirements 

PE14.1 Engage a suitably 
qualified contractor to deliver 
biosecurity obligations for 
Airport FPoE requirements 

Contractor Agreement executed and 
contractor engaged by 30 September 
2021 

PR Not commenced. Considered that FPoE obligations can 
be met by current NIRC staff. 

     PE14.2 Report to Department 
of Agriculture, Water and 
Environment on FPoE 
compliance 

Completed reporting to DAWE on 
compliance and agreed frequency by 
30 June 2022 

PR No reporting requirements within the Operational Plan 
period. 

01 2 32 N/A PE15.Remedia
te PFAS 
contamination 
of Council 
assets 

PE15.1 Advise and 
recommend to DITRDC on 
appropriate remediation 
processes at Fire Station and 
other impacted infrastructure 

Minuted communication with 
DITRDC on preferred remediation 
process at Fire Station and other 
infrastructure by 30 September 2021 

PR Advice provided by Council Engineer and Economic 
Development Manager on preferred remediation 
process at Fire Station. This was implemented and 
results in the minimum amount of replacement 
infrastructure post-remediation and prior to BAU use. 

 PE15.2 Facilitate installation 
of PFAS remediation process 
at Fire Station and other 
impacted infrastructure 

PFAS remediation process installed 
at Fire Station and other necessary 
infrastructure by 30 June 2022 

PR PFAS remediation at Fire Station completed in August 
2021. 

01 2 22 9(a) PE16. Deliver 
updates to the 
Norfolk Island 
Plan under the 
Planning Act 
2002 (NI) 

PE16.1 Develop Discussion 
Paper for consultation with 
community on proposed plan 
amendments, in accordance 
with the Planning Act 2002 
(NI) 

Discussion Paper completed 30 
September 2022 

PR Discussion Paper on Norfolk Island Plan housekeeping 
review provided to the community for comment in 
August 2021. 

 PE16.2 Consult with and 
incorporate feedback from 

Discussion paper released to 
community, feedback received and 

PR Discussion Paper on Norfolk Island Plan housekeeping 
review provided to the community for comment in 
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community consultation on 
plan amendments, including 
any relevant updates to 
Development Control Plans 

appropriate comments incorporated 
by 31 December 2021 

August 2021. Comments received and analysed by June 
2022. 

 PE16.3 Have plan 
amendments approved by the 
Norfolk Island Administrator 
in accordance with the 
Planning Act 2002 (NI) 

Plan amendments agreed to by 
Norfolk Island Administrator by 31 
March 2022 

PR Incomplete. Finalised changes to the Norfolk Island Plan 
as a result of the housekeeping review not completed at 
the end of the financial year. 

01 2 N/A 8(c)  PE20. Form 
NIRC Land and 
Conservation 
Advisory 
Committee to 
advise on the 
management 
of land use 
practices, 
including 
public land, 
and 
biodiversity 
and sensitive 
ecosystems 

PE20.1 Form Terms of 
Reference for NIRC Land and 
Conservation Advisory Group 

Terms of Reference drafted by 30 
September 2021 

PR Terms of Reference for the Reserves and Conservation 
Advisory Committee drafted in August 2021 and 
released to the community as part of Expression of 
Interest for membership. 

 PE20.2 Call for members from 
the community, other 
government departments and 
technical specialists where 
feasible, with appropriate 
coverage and representation 

Finalised Terms of Reference by 30 
September 2021 

PR As per PE20.1. 

 PE20.3 Constitute NIRC Land 
and Conservation Advisory 
Committee, including agreed 
meeting frequency 

Advertisement for Land and 
Conservation Advisory Group 
representatives by 30 September 
2021 

PR Media Release developed in August 2021 calling for 
Expressions of Interest for all advisory committees. 

 PE20.4 Commence Advisory 
Committee meetings 

First meeting held and schedule for 
Advisory Group meetings developed 
by 30 September 2021 

PR First Reserves and Conservation Advisory Committee 
meeting held in January 2022. Subsequent meeting held 
in March and May 2022. 
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01 2 31 8(e) PE21. 

Continued 
eradication of 
the Argentine 
Ant from 
targeted 
zones across 
the island 

PE21.1 Continue 
implementing the AAEP 
across Norfolk Island under 
the guidance of CSIRO 

AAEP implemented in accordance 
with CSIRO program 

PR AAEP implemented throughout the Operational Plan 
period in accordance with the Argentine Ant Eradication 
Strategy 2021 (updated for the FY22 period). 

 PE21.2 Engage the community 
through routine 
communication, responses to 
queries and provision of 
appropriate forms of bait to 
control AA at properties 

Media releases and social media 
posts made, paste bait provided to 
community where required 

PR 2 media releases developed during the season. Fact 
sheet also developed for release to the community. 
Paste bait made available to community members 
where impacts necessitated. 

01 2 N/A 8(c) PE22. Island-
wide Public 
Land Grazing 
Plan 

PE22.1 Develop proposal for 
island-wide 5-year grazing 
plan in consultation with 
DITRDC and NICA, taking into 
account sensitive ecological 
areas and sustainable 
opportunities for grazing 

5-year island-wide grazing plan 
developed with input from key 
stakeholders by 31 March 2022 

PR Not commenced. 

 PE22.2 Commence 
implementation of grazing 
plan prior to next tag release 

Any flow on changes to grazing plan 
represented in cattle tags by 31 
March 2021 

PR As per PE 22.1. 

01 2 N/A 8(c)  PE23. Finalise 
Plans of 
Management 
for the 
remaining 
Public 
Reserves 

PE23.1 Develop draft Plans of 
Management for remaining 
Public Reserves, including 
KAVHA reserves and Nepean 

Draft Plans of Management 
developed for relevant reserves by 
31 December 2021  

PR Draft Plan of Management developed for Cascade 
Reserve by June 2022. 
 
Discussions on Plans of Management for KAVHA and 
Nepean continue with DITRDC. 

 PE23.2 Consult with the 
community on remaining 
Plans of Management and 
incorporate feedback where 
relevant 

Draft Plans of Management put on 
exhibition and community feedback 
incorporated by 31 December 2021 

PR Not completed. 
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 PE23.3 Finalise Plans of 

Management and have 
approved by the 
Commonwealth Administrator 

Final Plans approved by the Norfolk 
Island Administrator by 30 June 2022 

PR As per PE 23.2. 

01 2 31 8(e) PE25. Control 
of woody 
weeds in 
Public 
Reserves 

PE25.1 Maintenance of 
woody weeds in native 
vegetation areas of the Public 
Reserves, recently 
rehabilitated areas and other 
council areas 

Woody and other weed species 
appropriately suppressed in sensitive 
areas 

PR Woody weed control in newly rehabilitated areas of 
Public Reserves completed during the Operational Plan 
period. 

 PE25.2 Removal of additional 
woody weeds from Public 
Reserves and other sensitive 
environmental areas 

Minimum 1 additional hectare of 
woody weeds removed from Public 
Reserves by 30 June 2022 

PR Approximately 4 hectares of woody weeds removed 
from Public Reserves during the Operational Plan 
period. 

 PE25.3 Pursue additional 
funding for woody weed 
removal, including public and 
private partnerships 

Funding proposal drafted and issued 
to relevant funding body by 31 
December 2021 

PR Funding for environmental improvements, including 
woody weed removal, in the Public Reserves secured for 
the next 3 financial years under the Service Delivery 
Agreement with the Commonwealth. 

01 2 31 8(e) PE26. Control 
of rats in 
Public 
Reserves 

PE26.1 Implement rat control 
activities in the Public 
Reserves 

Rat trapping program established 
and rolled out through the Reserves 
by 30 September 2021 

PR Rat trapping continued in the Public Reserves during the 
reporting period, including approximately 148 rat bait 
stations which were services at varying rotations. This 
includes a number within the council facilities such as 
the Waste Management Centre and the Biosecurity 
shed. 

 PE26.2 Develop 
community/private land rat 
baiting program for rotational 
use of public land 

Community/Private Land Rat Baiting 
Program developed, ready for 
implementation by 30 June 2022 

PR Community Rat Baiting program developed for 
implementation at Anson Bay, with funding provided by 
the Lord Mayor’s Charitable Foundation. Baiting not yet 
commenced due to bait availability and issuing of 
importation permit. 

     PE26.3 Assist in developing a 
rat eradication feasibility 
assessment for Norfolk Island, 
with Norfolk Island National 
Parks and other stakeholders 

Input into rat eradication feasibility 
assessment, with other key 
stakeholders such as NINP and Flora 
and Fauna Society by 30 June 2022 

PR Some input provided to visiting students developing a 
rat eradication feasibility study for Norfolk Island. Work 
was continuing at 30 June 2022. 

01 
 

2 31 8(e)  PE27. Controls 
of cats in 

PE27.1 Continue cat control 
program in the Public 
Reserves 

Cat trapping program established 
and rolled out through the Reserves 
by 30 September 2021 

PR Cat trapping and removal continued in the Public 
Reserves throughout the Operational Plan period. 74 
cats were trapped and removed from Public Reserves. 
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Public 
Reserves 

 PE27.2 Work with Norfolk 
Island National Parks to 
coordinate cat control across 
tenure 

Input into cross-tenure cat control or 
eradication program by 30 June 2022 

PR Not commenced. 

01 2 N/A 8(e) PE28. Increase 
native tree 
planting in the 
Public 
Reserves 

PE28.1 Order additional 
native plants from the Norfolk 
Island Nursery 

Order of native plants from NINP 
nursery made by 31 December 2021 

PR Approximately 1200 native plants ordered from the 
NINP nursery for planting in the Public Reserves. Order 
made by September 2021. 

 PE28.2 Plant native plants in a 
variety of the Public Reserves, 
representing a diversity of 
community types 

Native plant stock planted at a 
variety of Public Reserves by 30 June 
2022 

PR Approximately 1120 native plants were planted on 6 
separate community tree planting days in the Public 
Reserves during the Operational Plan period. This 
included planting of 30 different endemic species. 

01 2 30 8(e)  PE30. Protect 
and enhance 
unique 
biodiversity 
values in the 
Public 
Reserves and 
other public 
land 

PE30.1 Integrate conservation 
of biodiversity values into 
Land and Conservation 
Advisory Committee agenda 

Conservation of biodiversity values 
as standing agenda item in Land and 
Conservation Advisory Committee 

PR No standing agenda items developed for the Reserves 
and Conservation Advisory Committee. However, 
several agenda items have been raised relating to 
conservation of biodiversity on Norfolk Island, including 
control of cats, recommencement of the Toon Trust, 
Norfolk Island weeds and updating the Cascade Reserve 
Plan of Management. 

 PE30.2 Continue on feral 
animal and weed control 
activities, such as Tarler Bird, 
Red Parrot and other weeds 
species not mentioned above, 
where these threaten Norfolk 
Island native biodiversity 
values 

Feral animal control program 
continues to be implemented 

PR Feral bird control continued during the Operational Plan 
period. This included removal of the following number 
of feral birds species: 

- Feral chicken – 489  
- Red parrot – 116  
- Tarler bird – 14  

 PE30.3 Implement Trees Act 
1997 (NI) to protect trees and 
native vegetation 
communities of high value 
and promote planting of 

Retention of appropriate native 
vegetation in administering the Trees 
Act 1997 (NI), advice provided to 
community on native species, 

PR Retention of native vegetation continued throughout 
the Operational Plan period, as part of assessing tree 
removal permit applications. Information provided to 
tree removal applicants on where native plants can be 
obtained, including placing as a condition of removing 
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native species among the 
community, guided by Norfolk 
Island Native Vegetation 
mapping 

including through website and media 
releases by 30 June 2022 

trees the requirement to offset the removal with other 
native plants. 

01 2 N/A N/A CS8. 
Proactively 
work with 
community 
organisations 
to promote 
Norfolk 
Island’s 
natural 
environment 
and heritage 

CS8.1 Collaborate with the 
Norfolk Island Flora and 
Fauna Society and Parks 
Australia to establish an 
Ecological Display Centre. 

Ecological Display to be launched 
and opened with the new Library in 
the Bicentennial Centre in July 2021.  

PR Not complete. Ecological display from Flora and Fauna 
Society yet to be installed at the Council library. 
Negotiations in establishing a lease to occupy not yet 
complete. 

 CS8.2 Support the Manager 
Planning and Environment 
investigate options for a 
research hub through 
partnerships. 

Options for research hub scoped by 
30 June 2022. 

PR Not commenced. 

01 2 N/A 2(a) S1. Determine 
Optional 
implementatio
n Pathway to 
achieve the 
objective of 
100% 
renewable 
energy by 
2024 at lowest 
capital cost, 
keeping 
ongoing 
operational 
costs as low as 
possible. 

S1.1 Issue EOI and award 
contract to build a financial 
model for staged 
improvements (Council 
Resolution 7 April, 2021)  
 
 

Contract awarded by 31 August 2021   
 
 
 

GR Contract awarded to Incite Energy. 
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CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan 2021-2022   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 
 S1.2 Financial model 

developed and endorsed by 
Council.  

Completed December 2021                           
 

GR Financial model endorsed by Council.  Provision of a grant 
from the Department of Infrastructure provided in 
response to the model.  $5.25 million has been provided 
in additional funding for upgrading of the Electrical 
Network. 

 S1.3 Source quotes to 
commence project with 
purchase of 450 smart meters 
and stock of PV inverters, 

Quotes for Smart-meters and 
inverters by 30 September 2021  
 

GR Quotations were received and SmartMeters were 
selected as the preferred tenderer via Incite Energy 
process. 

 S1.4 Create policy so only 
compatible converters may be 
installed. 

Policy developed by 30 September 
2021 

GR Policy delayed until funding and Smart meter integration 
is understood across multiple platforms. Policy will be 
created early 2022-23 

01 1 N/A N/A  S2. Replace 
two 25-30 
year old 
Launches over 
2 years to 
meet SDA 
Ports 
commitments. 

S2.1 Design launch to tow 
lighters, and carry break-bulk 
cargo. 

Finalise design by 30 June 2021 
 

GR Completed.NS1 & Bluey entered Services February 
2022.  Replace both the lighter and launching functions. 

01 1 N/A  3(d)  S3. Provide 2 x 
20' Container 
Stands for 
Biosecurity 
inspections at 
Cascade 
Groyne. 

S3.1 Order and coordinate 
delivery of stands 

Stands available for use at Cascade 
Groyne, arriving on first barge to use 
groyne by 30 June 2022 

GR Current container stand to be reinspected at Waste and 
placed into service prior to container arrivals. 

01 1 N/A  9(c)  S4. Blasting of 
Cascade 
Significant 
development 
site to provide 
crushable rock 
for roads and 
construction.  

S4.1 Finalise approvals Blasting within 3 months of groyne 
opening by 30 June 2022.   

GR Approvals completed. 

01 1 N/A 9(c) S5. Project to 
deliver long-

S5.1 Finalise approvals Project plan developed for new rock 
source by 31 December 2021. 

GR Approvals completed. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 

term rock 
supply 

01 1  N/A 9(c) S6. Refurbish 
two 
kilometres of 
roads each 
year for 10 
years 

S6.1 Ensure equipment, 
resources and personnel are 
available to deliver 2km per 
annum. 

Refurbish two kilometres of roads 
each year for 10 years 

GR Road Study funding provided by Department of 
Infrastructure to undertake a complete deep dive into 
the road network on Island, including current 
conditions, design, mapping, signage and 10 year 
modelling.  $500k. 

01 1 40 
41 
108 

N/A S7. 
Maintenance, 
Depreciation 
and Capital 
works 
schedules 
developed 

S7.1 Use AssetFinder to 
develop Maintenance, 
Depreciation and Capital 
works schedules 

Schedules completed by 30 June 
2022 

GR Schedules completed 30th June. 
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Strategic Direction (SD) 02 A proud diverse and inclusive community  
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 3 – Cultural expression is maintained and built heritage is protected 
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
 

CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 
02 3 N/A N/A CS1. Provide quality 

library services. 
CS1.1 Completion of new Library 
building 

Completion of Library 
building by September 
2021 

LW Building complete and the Library relocated from 
New Cascade Road into the new building. 

     CS1.2 Review of opening hours to 
align with community needs 
 

Review of hours by 31 
December 2021 

LW Complete. A review was conducted by way of survey.  
There was not a lot of feedback from the community 
about changing the Library’s opening hours. Most 
respondents indicated that they were happy with the 
current opening hours, therefore, they will remains 
is. 

     CS1.3 Review of services and 
programs and, introduction of new 
programs 

Review of programs 
and services by 31 
December 2021 

LW Complete. A review was conducted by way of survey.  
 

02 3 N/A N/A CS2. Centralisation of 
administration 
functions of Council 

C2.1 Completion of new Customer 
Service Area 

Completion of new 
Customer Service Area 
by 31 March 2021 

LW 90% complete. The new service area is waiting on the 
installation of IT equipment. 
 

     CS2.2 Migration of select services to 
online platform 

Migration of select 
services to online 
platform i.e. Motor 
Vehicle Registration by 
31 December 2021 

LW Drivers Licences have been migrated to Open Gov. 
Migration of Firearms is still in progress, and Motor 
Vehicles will be migrated next financial year. 
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Strategic Direction (SD) 03 A caring community   
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 4 – We work together to achieve our goals  
• Objective (OBJ) 5 – Our community is a great place to live and visit   
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
 

CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 
03 4 N/A 8(f) PE6. Form NIRC 

Sustainability Advisory 
Committee to advise on 
the management of 
waste, water resource 
and water quality issues 

PE6.1 Form Terms of Reference for 
NIRC Sustainability Advisory Group 

Finalised Terms of 
Reference 

PR Terms of Reference for the Sustainability 
Advisory Committee drafted in August 2021 and 
released to the community as part of Expression 
of Interest for membership. 

 PE6.2 Call for members from the 
community, other government 
departments and technical 
specialists where feasible, with 
appropriate coverage and 
representation 

Advertisement for 
Sustainability Advisory 
Committee representatives 

PR Media Release developed in August 2021 calling 
for Expressions of Interest for all Advisory 
Committees. 

 PE6.3 Constitute NIRC 
Sustainability Advisory Committee 

First meeting held and 
schedule for Advisory Group 
meetings developed 

PR Sustainability Advisory Committee constituted, 
and first meeting held in February 2022. Two (2) 
additional meetings were held in March and May 
2022. 

03 5 N/A 8(g) PE24. Update Plans of 
Management to allow 
for eco-tourism or 
community activities 

PE24.1 Develop discussion paper on 
potential changes to Plans of 
Management to allow for eco-
tourism or community activities and 
consult with the community 

Discussion Paper on 
potential updates to Public 
Reserve Plans of 
Management developed, 
provided to community for 
comment 

PR Not commenced. Preliminary discussions on 
allowing camping in the Public Reserves held 
with the Reserves and Conservation Advisory 
Committee. 

 PE24.2 Update Plans of 
Management where relevant and 

Updated and approved 
Plans of Management by 
Norfolk Island Administrator 

PR As per PE24.1 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 

have approved by the 
Commonwealth Administrator 

03 4 N/A 8(a) PE29. Further develop a 
volunteer program for 
the Public Reserves 

PE29.1 Investigate and assess the 
opportunities for 
volunteering/environmental 
tourism on Norfolk Island 

Develop a report to Council 
on the benefits, 
opportunities and 
challenges in developing a 
volunteering/ 
environmental tourism 
program 

PR 
 

Not yet commenced. Some integration of eco-
tourism through providing information at the 
Tourist Information Centre on volunteer weed 
removal in Public Reservices. 

 PE29.2 Develop volunteering 
program including a variety of on-
island and volunteering groups 

Pending support from 
Council, develop a 
volunteering program, in 
consultation with NINP and 
Flora and Fauna Society 
where possible 

PR Norfolk Island (NI) Conservation volunteers 
initiated and undertaking regeneration and 
conservation works in Public Reserves.   
 

03 4 N/A N/A CS4. Review Customer 
Service telephone 
support 

CS4.1 Review operation of existing 
PABX systems and determine 
future options.  

Report on options on a  
Council PABX system 
completed by 31 March 
2022 

LW Review completed by IT. NIRC will move to a 
Microsoft Teams based platform for phone 
services. This will be installed in Bicentennial and 
will align with the transition of other services to a 
Cloud platform. 

03 4 1 
2 
16 
17 
18 

N/A CS9 The community are 
engaged through a 
diverse range of 
opportunities to allow 
involvement in matters 
relevant to their needs 
and interests. 
Community engagement 
is high with Council 
activities, including 
attendance at public 
meetings and 
submissions for relevant 
documents on public 
exhibition. 
Monitor and review the 
implementation of the 

CS9.1 Contribute to the ongoing 
work with the Administrator’s 
Office on the Norfolk Island 2030 – 
Sustaining our Future Plan, 
including involvement in a Liaison 
Committee. The Liaison Committee 
will provide community 
engagement and input also into the 
Norfolk Island Community Strategic 
Plan. 

Participate and provide 
timey advice as requested 
by 30 June 2022  

PM Continues to be a work in progress 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 

Community Engagement 
Strategy. 

 CS9.2 Scope procedures for the 
implementation of the Community 
Engagement Strategy, including 
promotion, monitoring and 
reporting processes - engagement 
register etc. 

Community Engagement 
procedures and 
communication is 
developed by December 
2021. 

PM Continues to be a work in progress 

 CS9.3 Support coordination of 
engagement activities/events by 
developing a 
Consultation/Engagement Calendar 
on Councils website and promote 
to community members not 
accessing electronic methods. 

A calendar is on Council's 
website December 2021. 
Community engagement 
advice and support is 
provided when required. 

LW Due date for this moved to align with upgraded 
website due December 2022. 

03 4 N/A N/A CS10. Increase 
opportunities for 
community participation 
and involvement in 
Council activities and 
efficient Council 
functions. 
 

CS10.1 Map existing and scope 
opportunities for new or enhanced 
community involvement in Council 
activities. 

Community development 
mapping and identified 
opportunities report 
developed June 2022.  

LW No progress made. 

 CS10.2 Review and develop a FAQs 
factsheet support efficient use of 
Council services and facilities. 

Factsheet and guide to 
developed by 30 June 2022. 

LW Review complete. Council is working through 
formalised lease / licence agreements with 
community organisations. Their information will 
be included alongside Councils. ETA December 
2022. 

 CS10.3 Develop a short guide to 
increase knowledge and awareness 
to support new residents’ use of 
Council services and facilities and 
where to access further 
information. 

Guide developed by 30 June 
2022. 

LW This has been moved to align with changes to the 
Council’s website; scheduled for Nov/Dec 2022. 
The Norf’k Fuss Newsletter provides information 
to new residents. 

 CS10.4 Identify opportunities 
where young people can be 

Participation in Youth 
Advisory Committee 
meetings.  

LW The Youth Advisory Committee was formed in 
June 2022. The committee comprises of 12 
students from years 11 and 12 at NICS. The 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Progress Comments 

involved in Council activities and 
functions. 

committee will provide recommendations to the 
Council about matters impacting youth on 
Norfolk Island. 

 CS10.5 Develop a project plan and 
strategies to manage existing, 
promote and increase access and 
use of Council facilities and land for 
the Bicentennial Complex, Rawson 
Hall and surrounding area. 

Bicentennial Centre 
centralised activity strategic 
plan completed by 30 June 
2022. 

LW Lease/licence agreements in the process of being 
formalised with community groups who make 
use of the facilities. 
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Strategic Direction (SD) 04 A successful and innovative community 
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 6 – Strong, diverse and vibrant business environment   
• Objective (OBJ) 7 – A skilled and competitive workforce 
• Objective (OBJ) 8 – Successful public private partnership    
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
  

CSP EAF S
A
P 

Operational Plan   

SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  
  

 Manager’s Progress Comments 

04 7 73 9(
g) 

PE19. Improved Council 
systems for processing of 
development and building 
applications 

PE19.1 Develop scope and engage 
consultant to develop Development 
section of Civica further 

Scope developed and 
consultant or contractor 
engaged 

PM Achieved through third party software. 

 PE19.2 Implement updates to Civica 
and have these rolled out to Planning 
personnel 

Civica updates completed, 
staff training completed 

PM No longer applicable as this was achieved 
through third party software. 

04 6 51 
60 

N/
A  

ED1. Business Plan 2021-
2024 for Norfolk Island 
Liquor Bond operations 
focussed on commercial 
opportunities and 
maximising revenue, 
including projected sales 
results and corresponding 
profits. 

ED1.1 Develop Business Plan 2021-
2024 

Business Plan 2021-2024 
developed by 30 September 
2021 

SM Not yet commenced. 

04 6 65 N/
A 

ED2. Business Plan 2021-
2024 for Norfolk Island 
Airport operations 
focussed on commercial 

ED2.1 Develop Business Plan 2021-
2024 

Business Plan developed by 
31 October 2021 

SM Practically commenced:  With the 
appointment of a new airport Manager in 
January 2022, a review of fees and charges, 
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CSP EAF S
A
P 

Operational Plan   

SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  
  

 Manager’s Progress Comments 

opportunities and 
maximising revenue 

operations, and procedural practices has 
been undertaken. 
This process will inform the development of a 
comprehensive business case now proposed 
for completion by 31 December 2023. 

04 6 65 
66 

N/
A 

ED3. NIRC is recognised as 
a valuable customer to 
freight forwarders, 
shipping companies and 
air freighters to the island. 

ED3.1 Build an NIRC customer 
profile. For use in future 
shipping/freight related negotiations 

NIRC freight customer 
profile developed by 31 
October 2021 

SM Not yet commenced. 

04 6 63 N/
A 

ED4. Paper prepared 
exploring options to 
alleviate funding 
challenges regarding 
ARFFS.  

ED4.1 Prepare a paper that identifies 
options to achieve the objective and 
prioritise which option will be 
progressed 

Report prepared by 31 
December 2021.   
 

SM Practically Commenced: preliminary paper 
presented to council 21 November 2021 
(2021/146). 
CASA Audit requested to identify real costs 
and risks of running ARFFS.  Audit completed 
April 2022 with remediation practices 
completed September 2022.  ASA confirmed 
support of training needs.  Now in position to 
complete a business case with alternative 
options and financial implications to be 
completed in 2023. 

04 6 N/A  5(
p) 

ED5. Recognition and 
rewards program aimed at 
individuals and/or 
organisations making a 
positive difference to the 
Norfolk Island Tourism 
Industry. 

ED5.1 Design a recognition and 
rewards program for the Tourism 
Industry including categories, 
promotion, frequency (annually/ 
monthly), scoring/rating, and 
presentation 

Finalise program by 30 
September 2021.  

SM Practically commenced: Paper endorsed by 
Business Innovation Tourism and 
Sustainability Committee (BITAC) 
Council working with BITAC to design and 
implement program. 

04 8 N/A 5(
m
) 

ED6. A tourism focussed 
program aimed at 
upskilling the local 
workforce competent in 
providing a quality 

ED6.1 Design a program involving 
local stakeholders, which considers 
how to source trainees, identify the 
trainee target market (e.g. school 
work experience?), the 
goals/objectives of the program. 

Develop program by 30 
September 2021.  
 
Launch program by 
November 2021. 

SM Practically commenced: Preliminary 
discussions with RDA held.  Project to be 
worked through BITAC.  
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A
P 

Operational Plan   

SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  
  

 Manager’s Progress Comments 

customer experience 
particularly for visitors. 

04 8 65 
66 

N/
A 

ED7. A plan to capitalise 
on potential opportunities 
based on an 
understanding of the 
existing barriers to 
economic development 
across the entire local 
Norfolk economy. 
 

ED7.1 Complete a gap analysis, 
develop a plan, and provide potential 
targets for investment. 

Plan developed by 31 
December 2021. 

 Not yet commenced. 

     
04 6 65 N/

A 
ED9. Reintroduce the 
quarterly RPI (or CPI) 
specific to Norfolk Island 
to provide a better 
understanding of the cost 
of living dynamics on 
Norfolk Island and the key 
influencers. 

ED9.1 Scope requirements including 
the logistics to generate a quarterly 
RPI for the island.  

RPI introduced by 30 
September 2021 

SM Completed.   
New Retail Price Index (RPI) reinstated in May 
2022.  As part of the project the calculation of 
the historical RPI from 2011 to 2022 was 
completed in May 2022.   

04 7 81 N/
A 

PC1. Review and deliver an 
updated, user friendly, 
automated HR 
Performance Appraisal 
System 

PC1.1 Implement performance 
management system module in Pulse 
HR system  

Implement module by 31 
December 2021 

PM Continues to be a work in progress. 

04 7 78 N/
A 

PC2. Skills Audit PC2.1 Collate staff relevant licences 
and tickets into Pulse 

Develop framework to 
understand what all the 
licences, tickets and 
qualifications need to be 
collated and inputted in 
Pulse - via Centium and PD's  

PM Collation is done however the framework is 
still underway. 

     PC2.2 Conduct Training Needs 
Analysis 

Once Performance 
Management System is 
implemented conduct a 

PM Completed. 
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Operational Plan   

SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  
  

 Manager’s Progress Comments 

training needs analysis, 
using a consultant that 
specialises in this area by 31 
May 2022  

04 7 76 
77 

N/
A 

PC3. Workforce 
Resourcing 

PC3.1 Develop a Workforce 
Management Plan including 
companion plans of TAAPILI and the 
People and Culture Business Plan 

Engagement Workforce 
Management Plan 
consultant to complete 
work by September 2021 

PM Completed. 

04 7 79 N/
A 

PC5 Ethics, Equity and 
Probity Strategy 
development and 
implemented 

PC5.1 Ethics , Equity and Probity 
Strategy Developed 

Engage a consultant to 
complete to develop this 
strategy (dependant on 
available funding) 

PM Work in progress as part of internal audit 
work program. 

04 7 79 N/
A 

PC6 Recruitment 
Strategy/Procedure - 
maximising employment 
of local workers 

PC6.1 Development and 
implementation of NIRC Recruitment 
Procedure 

Develop Recruitment 
Procedures  

PM Local employment is sought wherever 
possible. 

     PC6.2 Development of a Recruitment 
Strategy that aligns with workforce 
management plan 

Develop Recruitment 
Strategy by 31 December 
2021 

PM Local employment is sought wherever 
possible. 
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Strategic Direction (SD) 05 An informed and accountable community  
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 9 – An informed community  
• Objective (OBJ) 10 – Transparency in decision making  
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
 

CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  

 
 Manager’s update Comments 

05 9 1 
2 

N/A CF1. An NIRC Advisory 
Committee Structure 
to be established  
 

CF1.1 Terms of Reference to be 
prepared and submitted to Council 
for adoption. 

Terms of Reference adopted by 
July 2021. 

PM On the 9 June 2021 Council resolved to 
adopt guidelines to establish the 
following 4 x Advisory Committees and 
rescind previous guidelines resolution: 
(2021/62) 
1. Business Innovation and Tourism 2. 
Reserves and Conservation 3. 
Sustainability 4. Youth 

 CF1.2 Membership of Committees to 
be adopted by Council. 

Membership of Committees 
adopted by Council by September 
2021. 

PM Completed. 

05 9 41 9(d) CF2. Long-Term 
Financial Plan for NIRC 
be developed inclusive 
of all capital projects 
and changes in 
operating practices 
required to meet 
NIRC's compliance and 
service obligations  and 
to address legacy 
issues 

CF2.1 Purchase Long Term Financial 
Plan (LTFP) software to be used to 
produce a new LTFP, which will 
include a review of existing 
assumptions regarding capital 
projects and future rate yield 
percentages increases.   

LTFP completed by 30 September 
2021  
 

PM Software is in place and will be used in 
upcoming budget development. 

05 9 72 9(h)  CF3. NIRC implement a 
solution to increase 

CF3.1 Operationalise OpenGov 
Software acquired in 2020/21 

Open Gov reporting and budget 
tools in place by 31 August 2021 

PM This project has been delayed due to 
reallocation of staff resources. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  

 
 Manager’s update Comments 

95 
101 

transparency across 
the reporting, 
budgeting and 
planning process and 
assist with long term 
financial modelling by 
leveraging current 
investments and 
options available in the 
existing systems 
ecosystem 

including development of suite of 
Reports for uploading to the 
Council's website 

05 9 84 9(h)  CF4. Departments 
produce monthly 
"Dashboard" reports of 
performance against 
project targets and 
service levels to help 
condense status 
reports 

CF4.1 Operationalise OpenGov 
Software acquired in 2020/21 

Open Gov reporting and budget 
tools in place by 31 August 2021 

PM Commenced through CIVICA reporting. 

05 9 91 9(d) CF5. Asset 
Management Plans 
reviewed and updated 
in accordance with 
guidance provided in 
the Integrated 
Planning and Reporting 
Manual for local 
Government in NSW 

CF5.1 Review  Integrated Planning & 
Reporting Manual and reconcile with 
asset management tools provided in 
Council's new   

Asset Management plans reviewed 
and updated by 31 December 2021  

PM Review done with further work now 
being undertaken. 

05 9 43 9(b) CF6. A differential 
Rating system that 
determines a fair 
contribution from each 
type of property owner 
 

CF6.1 Review current Rating system 
and make recommendations to 
change for 2022/23 for 
consideration by Council. 

Recommendations on changes to 
Rating systems endorsed by 
Council by December 2021.  

PM Completed. 

05 9 
 

N/A N/A CF7. A resilient  IT 
platform capable of 

CF7.1 Engage  consultant to review 
IT platform  and make 

Recommendations to be submitted 
by Consultant by 31 October 2021. 

PM Commenced. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  

 
 Manager’s update Comments 

meeting existing 
business needs, with 
flexibility to adapt to 
changing technology 
and stakeholder 
requirements 

recommendations to improve 
performance, management 
adaptability and maintenance of the 
platform    

Implementation plan in place by 31 
December 2021 

05 9 N/A N/A CF8. All Service 
Delivery Agreement 
(SDA) reporting 
deadlines are achieved 

CF8.1 SDA reporting templates and 
deadlines are included in the Finance 
Team Reporting Schedule. 

SDA reports are provided to the 
Council's SDA Coordinator 2 
working days before the due date. 

PM Achieved. 

05 9 N/A 9(d) CF9. AssetFinda 
software is integrated  
with Civica to ensure 
all ledger transactions 
are automated and 
comply with relevant 
accounting standards 

CF9.1  Work with software provider 
to implement an Application 
Program Interface to transfer data 
from AssetFinda and Civica 

Integration completed by 30 
September 2021 

PM Continues to be a work in progress with 
the work being done on the asset 
management plans. 

05 10 6 N/A CF10. The Audit/Risk 
Management function 
is reviewed to assess 
its adequacy (12 
months from the May 
2021 Audit Committee 
meeting) 

CF10.1 Review of Audit/Risk 
Management function undertaken.  

Review of Audit/Risk Management 
function to commence in May 
2022 and be completed in Q1 
2022/23 

PM Completed. 

05 9 7 
8 

N/A CF11. Planned 
Schedule  for ongoing 
review of NIRC Policies 
based in setting 
priorities for topics 
including a gap analysis 
to identify policy areas 
requiring new policy 
instruments 

CF11.1 Develop schedule for ongoing 
review.  

Schedule  completed by 31 
December 2021 

PM Underway. 

 CF11.2 Engage consultant to 
undertake a gap analysis   

Gap analysis to be completed by 24 
December 2021 

PM Not commenced. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  

 
 Manager’s update Comments 

05 9 22 9(a)  PE17. Update Planning 
and Building 
Assessment Fee 
Structure 

PE17.1 Prepare consultation paper 
and consult with community on 
changes to planning and building 
approval fee structure 

Consultation Paper completed and 
issued to community 

PR Planning and Building approval fee 
structure updated as part of FY22 
Operational Plan. This was exhibited for 
comment prior to adoption of the plan 
(May 22). 

 PE17.2 Incorporate community 
feedback where required and roll 
out updates to fees and charges 

Updated fees and charges to 
reflect change to DA.BA fees 

PR Following exhibition, development 
application fee structure, which is now 
based on the value of the property, has 
been updated in the adopted Fees and 
Charges. 

05 9 34 N/A  PE18. Develop capacity 
in Customer Care staff 
to respond to Building 
Approval queries 

PE18.1 Develop training information 
to provide to Customer Care staff  

Training information package 
completed and presented to 
Customer Care by 31 December 
2021 

PR Reconsidered that most appropriate 
measure was for Customer Care direct 
relevant queries to the Planning 
Department for advice to customers. 
This was communicated to Customer 
Care in December 2021. 

     PE18.2 Provide information to the 
community in print media, online 
and social media on building 
approval requirements and 
processes for achieving compliance 
with building standards 

Media releases and social media 
regarding Building Approval 
requirements 

PR One media release developed to advise 
the community that building, and 
potentially, development approval, is 
required for new buildings. This was 
following instances of unapproved 
buildings being erected. 

05 9 30 8(a) PE31. Communicate 
biodiversity values to 
the community and 
other stakeholders 

PE31.1 Provide monthly 
communication to the community 
on biodiversity in the Public Reserves 
and control of woody weeds, cats, 
rats and other threatening processes    

Monthly communication 
completed, including media 
releases and social media posts 

PR 22 separate media releases on 
biodiversity developed during the 
Operational Plan period, including 
announcements and outcomes from 
community tree planting days, risks of 
feral animals on native fauna, weeds of 
the month and mapping of the historic 
vegetation of the island. A number of 
these were posted to Facebook.  

 PE31.2 Coordinate communication 
on Norfolk Island biodiversity with NI 
National Parks wherever possible  

Minimum 4 engagements with 
NINP regarding NI biodiversity 
throughout the year 

PR Ongoing communication with National 
Parks across a variety of biodiversity 
topics, including feral cats and rats, 
revegetation of native plants, 
management of native fauna such as 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  

 
 Manager’s update Comments 

forest bird species and endemic snails. 
This was undertaken during Reserves 
and Conservation Advisory Committee 
meetings, NINPAC meetings and 
routine meetings with the NINP Team. 

05 9 N/A 8 (f) PE32. 2021 State of the 
Environment Report 

PE32.1 Develop and publish the NIRC 
2021 State of the Environment 
Report for community and 
stakeholders 

Complete and publish SoE Report 
by November 2021 

PR Norfolk Island State of the Environment 
Report (2017-2021) was developed and 
released to the public in April 2022. 

05 9 N/A N/A CS5. Records 
digitisation program  

CS5.1  Develop software tools to 
allow for digital storage of records 

Software tools developed by 31 
December 2021 

LW Content Manager 9 set up to be used 
for this service. 

05 10 N/A N/A CS6. Digitisation of 
historical records 
(subject to funding 
support by DITRDC) 

CS6.1 Work with DITRDC to secure 
funding for digitisation. 

Funding secured for digitisation of 
historical records by 30 June 2022 

LW Funding for an additional resource to 
assist with the digitisation of records 
secured. This resource has been 
appointed and has commenced. 

05 9 N/A N/A  CS7. Council promotes 
two way 
communication 
channels between 
community members 
and organisations and, 
provides information 
to the community 
regularly 

CS7.1 Customer satisfaction survey 
 

Results of customer satisfaction 
surveys reported to Council by 31 
December 2022  
 

LW The Library survey was prioritised to 
help inform the service delivery in the 
new building. Results of the Library 
customer survey completed and 
reported to Council. 
The Customer Service survey will be 
published to align with the Councils 
relocation to Bicentennial to inform 
services delivered in this space. 

05 10 79 N/A PC6. Review of HR 
Policy and Procedure 

PC6.1 Conduct an audit with 
governance to determine policy and 
procedure status 

Conduct a Review by 31 October 
2021 

PM Underway. 

 PC6.2 Review/Write Policy and 
Procedure not in place 

Engage a consultant to write policy 
and procedure not in place by 
December 2021 

PM Not commenced. 

 PC6.3 Implement policy and 
procedure including Drug and 
Alcohol Policy 

New policy and procedure 
implemented by 31 March 2022 

PM Not commenced. 

05 10 104 N/A PC8. Automated and 
integrated payroll 
system 

PC8.1 Review current state of payroll 
system and identify weaknesses, 
gaps, areas for improvement and 

Review completed by 30 
September 2021 

PM Underway as part of the internal audit 
work programme. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures  
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opportunities for integration with 
Council’s existing systems  

 PC8.2 Implement recommendations 
as identified in review  

Implementation completed by 31 
December 2021 

PM Ongoing. 
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Strategic Direction (SD) 06 A healthy and safe community    
 
Legend: 

• Objective (OBJ) 11– Informed, active and healthy residents   
• Objective (OBJ) 12 – Focussed and coordinated approach to health care    
• Objective (OBJ) 13 – A safe place for our families and visitors  
• External Audit Findings (EAFs) – 1 to 113  
• Strategic Action Plan (SAP) - 9 Point Action Plan  

 
 

CSP EAF SAP Operational Plan   
SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Update Comments 
06 11 N/A N/A CS11. Develop a plan 

for 'best fit' to 
community needs 
and seek funding 
avenues 

CS11.1 Investigate grant funding 
and consult with the community 
about potential sites for exercise 
stations. 

Community consultation is 
completed and grant funding 
options are identified by 30 June 
2022. 

LW Completed. 

06 12 N/A N/A CS12. Council 
contributes to 
community 
development and 
acknowledges 
volunteer 
organisations 
significant 
contribution to 
community health 
and wellbeing, with 
grant opportunities 
promoted to the 
community and 
administered to align 
with budget 

CS12.1 Promote and support 
organisations with Council 
funded Grants Programs. 
 

 

Community Grants, Tertiary 
Grants and Queen Victoria grants 
programs managed in accordance 
with budget and outcomes 
reported to Council by 30 June 
2022 
 

LW Completed. 

 CS12.2 Identity and promote 
external grants available for 

Grants programs managed in 
accordance with budget and 

LW Completed. 
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SD  OBJ   Deliverable  Actions  Performance Measures   Manager’s Update Comments 

community development 
opportunities. 

outcomes reported to Council by 
30 June 2022. 

 



FIGURE 1.

According to Wikipedia, an
annual report is a
comprehensive report on a
company's activities
throughout the preceding
year.
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Norfolk Island Regional Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI) and has its principal place
of business at:

Overview

New Military Barracks, Kingston
NORFOLK ISLAND NSW 2899

Council’s guiding principles are detailed in Chapter 3 of the LGA and includes:

• principles applying to the exercise of functions generally by council,
• principles to be applied when making decisions,
• principles of community participation,
• principles of sound financial management, and
• principles for strategic planning relating to the development of an integrated planning and reporting framework.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our reporting is timely, complete and available at minimum cost. All
press releases, financial statements and other information are publicly available on our website: www.norfolkisland.gov.nf.
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§Note/Subtotal§

Each year, Norfolk Island Regional Council is required to present a set of audited financial statements to their council and
community.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Introduction

The financial statements set out the financial performance, financial position and cash flows of Council for the financial year
ended 30 June 2022.

What you will find in the Statements

The format of the financial statements is standard across all NSW Councils and complies with both the accounting and reporting
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and requirements as set down by the Office of Local Government.

The financial statements must be certified by senior staff as ‘presenting fairly’ the Council’s financial results for the year and
are required to be adopted by Council – ensuring both responsibility for and ownership of the financial statements.

About the Councillor/Management Statement

The financial statements incorporate five "primary" financial statements:

1. The Income Statement

About the Primary Financial Statements

Summarises Council's financial performance for the year, listing all income and expenses. This statement also displays
Council's original adopted budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

2. The Statement of Comprehensive Income
Primarily records changes in the fair value of Council's Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

3. The Statement of Financial Position
A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position indicating its assets, liabilities and “net wealth”.

4. The Statement of Changes in Equity
The overall change for the year (in dollars) of Council's "net wealth".

5. The Statement of Cash Flows
Indicates where Council's cash came from and where it was spent. This statement also displays Council's original adopted
budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide greater detail and additional information on the five primary financial statements.

About the Notes to the Financial Statements

Council’s financial statements are required to be audited. The auditor provides 2 audit reports:

About the Auditor's Reports

1. an opinion on whether the financial statements present fairly the Council’s financial performance and position, and
2. their observations on the conduct of the audit, including commentary on the Council’s financial performance and financial

position.

The financial statements are publicly available documents and must be presented at a Council meeting between seven days
and five weeks after the date of the audit report. The public can make submissions to Council up to seven days subsequent
to the public presentation of the financial statements.

Who uses the Financial Statements?

Council is required to forward an audited set of financial statements to the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional
Development and Communications.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Understanding Council's Financial Statements

Page 3 of 73



Norfolk Island Regional Council 

General Purpose Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Statement by the Administrator and Management made pursuant to Section 413(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 

1993 (NSW) (NI) (as amended) 

The attached General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

• the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI) (as amended) and the regulations made thereunder,

• the Australian Accounting Standards and other pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board

• the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, these statements: 

• present fairly the Council's operating result and financial position for the year

• accord with Council's accounting and other records.

We are not aware of any matter that would render these statements false or misleading in any way. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Council made on 16 November 2022. 

Mike Colreavy 

Council Administrator 

16 November 2022 

Andrew Roach 

General Manager 

16 November 2022 

/J. 
Paul Martin 

Responsible Accounting Officer 

16 November 2022 
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Norfolk Island Regional Council | Income Statement | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2022 $ Notes 2022 2021

Income from continuing operations   
1,690,874 Rates and annual charges B2-1 2,258,471 1,605,692

14,324,745 User charges and fees B2-2 14,071,955 11,908,824
5,145,793 Other revenues B2-3 6,045,062 5,179,266

9,070,055 Grants and contributions provided for operating 
purposes

B2-4
13,606,130 12,192,024

– Grants and contributions provided for capital 
purposes

B2-4
6,603,709 7,935,766

30,000 Interest and investment income B2-5 24,333 36,812
– Other income B2-6 329,278 417,565

30,261,467 Total income from continuing operations 42,938,938 39,275,949

Expenses from continuing operations   
10,557,832 Employee benefits and on-costs B3-1 10,635,675 10,521,340

4,119,211 Materials and services B3-2 16,634,929 14,895,463

6,753,823 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
non-financial assets

B3-3
7,162,841 6,858,719

8,331,122 Other expenses B3-4 508,900 22,100
– Net loss from the disposal of assets B4-1 171,538 1,300,110

29,761,988 Total expenses from continuing operations 35,113,883 33,597,732

499,479 Operating result from continuing operations 7,825,055 5,678,217

499,479 Net operating result for the year attributable to Council 7,825,055 5,678,217

  
499,479 Net operating result attributable to Council 7,825,055 5,678,217

499,479 Net operating result for the year before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes 1,221,346 (2,257,549)

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Norfolk Island Regional Council | Statement of Comprehensive Income | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Actual Actual
$ Notes 2022 2021

Net operating result for the year – from Income Statement 7,825,055 5,678,217

§Subnote§

Other comprehensive income:
Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
Gain (loss) on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment C1-6 2,240,940 –
Total items which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating
result 2,240,940 –

Total other comprehensive income for the year 2,240,940 –

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to Council 10,065,995 5,678,217

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Norfolk Island Regional Council | Statement of Financial Position | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

  Actual Actual
$ Notes 2022 2021

ASSETS   
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents C1-1 16,230,992 5,279,554
Receivables C1-4 3,868,718 5,077,670
Inventories C1-5 2,337,503 2,271,437
Total current assets 22,437,213 12,628,661

Non-current assets   
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE) C1-6 180,723,387 176,569,413
Intangible assets C1-7 42,074 61,159
Total non-current assets 180,765,461 176,630,572

Total assets 203,202,674 189,259,233

LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities   
Payables C3-1 3,462,478 2,494,179
Contract liabilities C3-2 2,894,495 206,331
Employee benefit provisions C3-3 1,584,365 1,363,382
Total current liabilities 7,941,338 4,063,892

Total liabilities 7,941,338 4,063,892

Net assets 195,261,336 185,195,341

EQUITY   
Accumulated surplus 178,329,158 170,504,103
IPPE revaluation reserve C4-1 16,932,178 14,691,238
Council equity interest 195,261,336 185,195,341

Total equity 195,261,336 185,195,341

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2022
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Norfolk Island Regional Council | Statement of Changes in Equity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021

$ Notes
Accumulated 

surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity
Accumulated 

surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity

Opening balance at 1 July 170,504,103 14,691,238 185,195,341 164,825,886 14,691,238 179,517,124
Restated opening balance 170,504,103 14,691,238 185,195,341 164,825,886 14,691,238 179,517,124

§Subnote§

Net operating result for the year 7,825,055 – 7,825,055 5,678,217 – 5,678,217
Restated net operating result for the period 7,825,055 – 7,825,055 5,678,217 – 5,678,217

Other comprehensive income
Gain (loss) on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment C1-6 – 2,240,940 2,240,940 – – –
Other comprehensive income – 2,240,940 2,240,940 – – –

Total comprehensive income 7,825,055 2,240,940 10,065,995 5,678,217 – 5,678,217

Closing balance at 30 June 178,329,158 16,932,178 195,261,336 170,504,103 14,691,238 185,195,341

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Norfolk Island Regional Council | Statement of Cash Flows | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2022 $ Notes 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities   
Receipts:   

1,640,148 Rates and annual charges 2,149,798 1,545,872
13,949,356 User charges and fees 14,312,175 11,058,097

30,000 Interest received 19,824 3,940
9,070,055 Grants and contributions 24,601,915 12,470,538

– Bonds, deposits and retentions received 354,482 455,892
4,994,545 Other 5,752,342 5,269,774

Payments:   
(10,557,832) Payments to employees (10,376,468) (10,123,119)

(4,704,211) Payments for materials and services (16,350,020) (15,662,075)
(8,331,122) Other (284,282) (22,100)

6,090,939 Net cash flows from operating activities G1-1 20,179,766 4,996,819

Cash flows from investing activities   
Receipts:   

– Sale of investments – 10,033,146
Payments:   

(3,637,216) Payments for IPPE (9,228,328) (24,978,085)
– Purchase of intangible assets – (76,341)

(3,637,216) Net cash flows used in investing activities (9,228,328) (15,021,280)

2,453,723 Net change in cash and cash equivalents 10,951,438 (10,024,461)

798,655 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,279,554 15,304,015
3,252,378 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year C1-1 16,230,992 5,279,554

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Norfolk Island Regional Council

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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§Note/Subtotal§

These financial statements were authorised for issue by Council on 16 November 2022. Council has the power to amend and
reissue these financial statements in cases where critical information is received from public submissions or where the

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communication and the Arts directs Council to amend the
financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI) and Regulations, and the Local Government
Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

Council is a not for-profit entity.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

COVID-19

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on
11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets. Travel restrictions have been implemented by many countries.

Council did not identify any potential material adjustments required to be done as a result of the pandemic. Even though the
pandemic had a widespread effect on slowing down economies around the world, as at 30 June 2022 it is hard to predict any
significant future implications on Council’s business. Council’s business operations remain on the same pattern. Council is not
aware of any post balance sheet date events which would result in separate disclosures or adjustments to the 30 June 2022
financial results. Hence, 30 June 2022 financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis.

Domestic and international situation

Widespread volatility caused by international and domestic events in 2022 (war in Ukraine and nationwide, etc.) has
significantly impacted supply chains, labour costs and inflation. With continuing changes in material costs, labour shortages and
supply issues there has been a significant increases in amount of discussion and data regarding changes in construction costs.
Commodity prices including key construction materials have seen significant increases over the last 2 years. Management is
paying close attention to the ongoing developments on the international and domestic markets and its impact on the financial
results and position of the council. As a result of assessment done, council has performed indexation of its land assets to
ensure their carrying amount is not materially different to fair value as at 30 June 2022 (see Note C1-6).

Appointment of Administrator

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI) (the Act), all civic offices were declared vacant on 6 December
2021 and Mr Mike Colreavy was appointed as Administrator of the Norfolk Island Regional Council (NIRC) for a period of
three years.

During the period of this appointment, Mr Colreavy has all the functions of the NIRC (including those of a Councillor and Mayor).
These functions include those conferred or imposed on the NIRC by, or under the Act, as well as the functions conferred or
imposed on the NIRC by or under any other Act or law, including laws continued in force by Section 16 or 16A of the Norfolk
Island Act 1979.

Mr Colreavy’s responsibilities include restoring the proper and effective functioning of the NIRC. He is to carry out the role,
duties, and functions of the NIRC, and continue its transition to sustainability.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
certain infrastructure, property, plant and equipment and investment property.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Council's accounting policies.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Council and that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

continued on next page ... 
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Council makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year include:

(i) estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – refer Note C1-6
(ii) employee benefit provisions – refer Note C3-3

(i) Impairment of receivables

Significant judgements in applying the Council's accounting policies

Council has made a significant judgement about the impairment of a number of its receivables – refer Note C1-4.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW)(NI), all money and property
received by Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated Fund unless it is required to be held in the Council’s Trust Fund.

Monies and other assets received by Council

The Consolidated Fund

In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI) (as amended), a separate
and distinct Trust Fund is maintained to account for all money and property received by the council in trust which must be
applied only for the purposes of, or in accordance with, the trusts relating to those monies. Trust monies and property subject
to Council’s control have been included in these reports.

The Trust Fund

The Norfolk Island GST ceased on 1 July 2016 and the Australian GST doesn't apply to Norfolk Island.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
that are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are presented as operating cash flows.

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations (ie. pronouncements) have been published by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2022 reporting period.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

Council's assessment of these new standards and interpretations (where they have been deemed as having a material impact
on Council's future financial performance, financial positon and cash flows) are set out below:

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current; and AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date

AASB 2020-1 amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current.

continued on next page ... 
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For example the amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity has the right at the end of the
reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The meaning of settlement
of a liability is also clarified.

Council does not expect any material impact from the above amendments and to its classification of liabilities as
current or non-current.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2024 reporting period.

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018 - 2020 and Other
Amendments

This Standard amends a number of standards as follows:

◾ AASB 1 to simplify the application of AASB 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in relation
to the measurement of cumulative translation differences,

◾ AASB 3 to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations,

◾ AASB 9 to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability,

◾ AASB 116 to require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from selling items produced while preparing property,
plant and equipment for its intended use and the related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the amounts received
from the cost of the asset,

◾ AASB 137 to specify the costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making, and

◾ AASB 141 to remove the requirement to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning
the fair value measurement requirements in AASB 141 with those in other Australian Accounting Standards.

Council does not expect any material impact from the above amendments.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2023 reporting period.

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition
of Accounting Estimates [amends AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 108, AASB 134 & AASB Practice Statement 2]

This Standard amends a number of standards as follows:

AASB 7 to clarify that information about measurement bases for financial instruments is expected to be material to an entity’s
financial statements;

AASB 101 to require entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies;

AASB 108 to clarify how entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates;

AASB 134 to identify material accounting policy information as a component of a complete set of financial statements; and

AASB Practice Statement 2 to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

Above amendments might result in reductions in quantum of accounting policies disclosures to focus on key decision
areas and material policies only. Council does not expect any material impact on reported financial performance or
position.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2024 reporting period.

Apart from the standards listed above there are no other released standards and interpretations (with future effective dates)
that are expected to have a material impact on Council.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

continued on next page ... 

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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New accounting standards adopted during the year

During the year Council adopted all accounting standards and interpretations (as issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board) which were mandatorily effective from the first time at 30 June 2022.

None of the newly adopted standards had a material impact on Council's reported financial position, financial performance
and/or associated financial statement disclosures.

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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Income, expenses and assets have been directly attributed to the following functions or activities. Details of those functions or activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Income Expenses Operating result Grants and contributions Carrying amount of assets
$ 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Functions or activities
Governance, Administration 
and Revenue 10,148,193 14,307,811 6,450,742 7,089,826 3,697,451 7,217,985 8,494,107 8,075,951 16,380,646 6,242,044
Infrastructure 798,105 1,486,487 2,854,029 3,774,735 (2,055,924) (2,288,248) 367,196 987,804 34,383,021 35,662,200
Community Services 3,067,919 917,226 2,862,436 2,538,394 205,483 (1,621,168) 2,866,761 739,039 15,563,259 12,786,903
Tourism 152,872 398,875 628,895 912,924 (476,023) (514,049) 16,595 263,479 173,614 170,316
Business Services 18,024,861 16,033,001 17,315,625 13,800,863 709,236 2,232,138 826,839 6,208,923 135,461,106 133,337,597
Commonwealth Service 
Delivery 10,746,988 6,132,549 5,002,156 5,480,990 5,744,832 651,559 7,638,341 3,852,594 1,241,028 1,060,173
Total functions and 
activities 42,938,938 39,275,949 35,113,883 33,597,732 7,825,055 5,678,217 20,209,839 20,127,790 203,202,674 189,259,233

B Financial Performance

B1 Functions or activities

B1-1 Functions or activities – income, expenses and assets
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§Note/Subtotal§

Governance, Administration and Revenue

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Details relating to the Council’s functions or activities as reported in B1-1 are as follows:

Includes costs relating to elected members, general administrative and ICT costs to operate Council, liquor bond, risk
management and general regional Council costs.

Infrastructure

Includes all costs related to the maintenance and operation of Council's roads, and plant functions, including depot and stores
administration.

Community Services

This fuction includes all other general services provided to the community such as broadcasting, parks and recreation, facilities,
customer care, housing, library, and building and development.

Tourism

All costs for the promotion and management of tourism and marketing for the Island.

Business Services

Includes Council's main commercial business operations of the Telecom, electricity provision, waste management, sewerage,
and airport management.

Commonwealth Service Delivery

All activities provided under the formal Service Delivery Arrangement with the Commonwealth Government including
education, KAVHA, emergency services, lighterage, workers compensation, registry and licencing.

B1-2 Components of functions or activities
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Timing 2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Ordinary rates

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Residential 2 864,083 777,856
Farmland 2 76,110 67,845
Business 2 400,059 372,972
Less: pensioner rebates (mandatory) 2 (15,937) (14,317)
Less: pensioner rebates (Council policy) 2 (13,741) (17,498)
Rates levied to ratepayers 1,310,574 1,186,858

Pensioner rate subsidies received 2 17,213 –
Total ordinary rates 1,327,787 1,186,858

Annual charges
(pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)

Sewerage services 2 470,186 418,834
Waste levy 2 460,498 –
Annual charges levied 930,684 418,834

Total annual charges 930,684 418,834

Total rates and annual charges 2,258,471 1,605,692

The timing column notation (above) identifies the revenue recognition pattern for material items of Council's revenue:

(1) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 or AASB 1058 “over time”,
(2) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 or AASB 1058 “at a point in time”.

Council has used 2019 year valuations provided by the Valuer General in calculating its rates.

Rates and annual charges are recognised as revenue when the Council obtains control over the assets comprising these
receipts.

Accounting policy

Pensioner rebates relate to reductions in rates and certain annual charges for eligible pensioners' place of residence in the
local government council area that are not subsidised by the Commonwealth Government.

Pensioner rate subsidies are received from the Commonwealth Government to provide a contribution towards the pensioner
rebates.

B2 Sources of income

B2-1 Rates and annual charges
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Timing 2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Specific user charges
(per s.502 - specific 'actual use' charges)
Waste management services (non-domestic) 2 1,350 –
Other 2 3,833 12,059
Waste Management Levy 2 442,972 698,066
Total specific user charges 448,155 710,125

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)
Planning and building regulation 2 25,763 31,899
Private works 1 85,025 6,415
Registration fees 2 628,523 619,939
Regulatory fees 2 703 1,145
Town planning 2 1,613,671 793,299
Other 2 100,468 55,943
Court Fees 2 11,988 22,314
Animal Registration 2 (19,510) 28,097
Roads Levy 2 355,328 352,525
Other (Workers Compensation Levy) 2 131,504 213,987
Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory 2,933,463 2,125,563

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))
Aerodrome 2 3,578,586 2,739,771
Leisure centre 2 – 4,071
Quarry revenues 2 24,422 3,920
Tourism 2 163 2,588
Electricity Charges 1 3,804,145 3,110,778
Equipment Rental 1 26,712 53,913
Donations Received 2 15,480 4,009
Other 2 121,346 145,881
Lighterage Charges 2 311,711 303,573
License Fees 2 43,566 88,845
Refunds 2 (84,209) (28,034)
Hall Hire 1 5,437 3,991
Advertising Revenue 2 47,032 46,642
Telecom Sales 1 2,631,354 2,442,496
Gaming Revenue 2 164,592 150,692
Total fees and charges – other 10,690,337 9,073,136

Total other user charges and fees 13,623,800 11,198,699

Total user charges and fees 14,071,955 11,908,824

Timing of revenue recognition for user charges and fees
User charges and fees recognised over time (1)  6,986,194 5,617,593
User charges and fees recognised at a point in time (2)  7,085,761 6,291,231
Total user charges and fees 14,071,955 11,908,824

Revenue arising from user charges and fees is recognised when or as the performance obligation is completed and the
customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.

Accounting policy

The performance obligation relates to the specific services which are provided to the customers and generally the payment
terms are within 30 days of the provision of the service or in some cases such as caravan parks, the customer is required to
pay on arrival or a deposit in advance. There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns.

Where an upfront fee is charged such as joining fees for the leisure centre the fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the expected life of the membership.

continued on next page ... 

B2-2 User charges and fees
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Licences granted by Council are all either short-term or low value and all revenue from licences is recognised at the time that
the licence is granted rather than over the term of the licence.
 

B2-3 Other revenues
§Subnote§

Timing 2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Sales – general 2 118,233 –
Other 2 87,304 219,373
Tourism Sales 2 136,113 132,808
Liquor Bond Sales 2 5,422,254 4,557,666
KAHVA Sales and Entry Fees 2 274,770 263,037
Tanalith Services 2 6,388 6,382
Total other revenue 6,045,062 5,179,266

Timing of revenue recognition for other revenue
Other revenue recognised over time (1)  – –
Other revenue recognised at a point in time (2)  6,045,062 5,179,266
Total other revenue 6,045,062 5,179,266

Accounting policy for other revenue
Where the revenue is earned for the provision of specified goods / services under an enforceable contract, revenue is
recognised when or as the obligations are satisfied.

Statutory fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received or when
the penalty has been applied, whichever occurs first.

Other revenue is recorded when the payment is due, the value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, whichever
occurs first.

B2-2 User charges and fees (continued)
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Operating Operating Capital Capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

$ Timing Actual Actual Actual Actual

General purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions (untied)
General purpose (untied)
Current year allocation
Financial assistance 2 8,494,107 8,075,951 – –
Amount recognised as income during 
current year 8,494,107 8,075,951 – –

Special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions (tied)
Small business relief – – – –
Economic Stimulus Package 2 – – 367,196 1,726,843
Noxious weeds 2 10,800 – – –
Tourism Grant 2 16,595 263,479 – –
Other Grants 1 – – 511,114 6,208,923
Service Delivery Agreement (Commonwealth) 2 5,084,628 3,852,594 5,725,399 –
Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions – cash 5,112,023 4,116,073 6,603,709 7,935,766

Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions (tied) 5,112,023 4,116,073 6,603,709 7,935,766

Total grants and non-developer contributions 13,606,130 12,192,024 6,603,709 7,935,766

Comprising:
– Commonwealth funding  8,521,502 8,339,430 6,603,709 7,935,766
– Service Delivery Agreement (Commonwealth)  5,084,628 3,852,594 – –
 13,606,130 12,192,024 6,603,709 7,935,766

The timing column notation (above) identifies the revenue recognition pattern for material items of Council's revenue:

(1) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 or AASB 1058 “over time”,
(2) indicates income recognised under AASB 15 or AASB 1058 “at a point in time”.
 

Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) and is valued at the fair value of
the granted or contributed asset at the date of transfer.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that they be
expended in a particular manner, or used over a particular period, and those conditions were un-discharged at reporting date,
the unused grant or contribution is disclosed below.

Council has obligations to provide facilities from contribution revenues levied on developers under the provisions of sections
72 and 73 of the Planning Act 2002 (NI).

While Council generally incorporates these amounts as part of a Development Consents Order, such developer contributions
are only recognised as income upon receipt by Council, due to the possibility that individual development consents may not
be acted upon by the applicant and, accordingly, would not be payable to Council.

Developer contributions may only be expended for the purposes for which the contributions were required, but the Council
may apply contributions according to the priorities established in work schedules

A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite service has not been
provided at reporting date.

B2-4 Grants and contributions
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Overdue rates and annual charges (incl. special purpose rates) 15,530 15,383
– Cash and investments 8,803 21,429
Total interest and investment income (losses) 24,333 36,812

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate at the date that interest is earned.
Accounting policy

Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
 

B2-6 Other income
§Subnote§

2022 2021
$ Notes Actual Actual

Rental income
Other lease income
Council properties 329,278 417,565
Total other lease income 329,278 417,565

Total rental income C2-1 329,278 417,565

Total other income 329,278 417,565

B2-5 Interest and investment income
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Salaries and wages   1 7,789,266 7,978,172
Employee leave entitlements (ELE) 1,937,117 1,618,512
Superannuation 855,210 847,418
Workers’ compensation insurance   1 53,891 73,744
Other 191 3,494
Total employee costs 10,635,675 10,521,340

Total employee costs expensed 10,635,675 10,521,340

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by the employee.
Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations
All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes to various defined
contribution plans on behalf of its employees.

Superannuation plans
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(1) $94k of payroll expenses were incorrectly classified as workers' compensation insurance expenses in 2021. Comparatives were 
adjusted by reclassifying this amount from workers' compensation insurance to salaries and wages.

B3 Costs of providing services

B3-1 Employee benefits and on-costs
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2022 2021
$ Notes Actual Actual

Raw materials and consumables 3,546,682 3,605,727
General Contract and Project Costs 4,848,086 2,934,354
– Telecom and Satellite Bandwidth 1,422,383 1,564,288
– Policing, Legal, and Inmate Incarceration 168,594 151,431
Audit Fees E2-1 94,000 127,000
Previously other expenses:
Advertising 22,325 12,988
Bank charges 89,416 76,543
Cleaning 122,401 136,871
Cost of sales 2,024,231 1,796,350
Computer software charges 311,162 593,962
Insurance 583,541 647,614
Postage 484 14,528
Printing and stationery 64,223 85,035
Subscriptions and publications 8,815 21,612
Tourism expenses (excluding employee costs) 171,673 483,396
Other expenses 513,113 37,304
Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses E1-2 – 57,824
Travel expenses 312,635 183,204
Training costs (other than salaries and wages) 38,081 126,623
Membership Fees 18,735 8,756
Library Resources 7,417 5,614
Freight Costs 2,254,667 2,223,744
– Legal expenses: other 12,265 695
Total materials and services 16,634,929 14,895,463

Total materials and services 16,634,929 14,895,463

B3-2 Materials and services
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$ Notes 2022 2021

Depreciation and amortisation
Plant and equipment 969,641 929,440
Office equipment 48,137 60,160
Furniture and fittings 18,660 619
Infrastructure: C1-6

– Buildings – specialised 773,751 738,473
– Other structures 254,216 254,016
– Roads 3,309,508 3,345,382
– Bridges 27,038 27,038
– Sewerage network 114,307 114,416
– Other infrastructure 1,628,498 1,373,993
Intangible assets C1-7 19,085 15,182
Total depreciation and amortisation costs 7,162,841 6,858,719

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment for non-financial assets 7,162,841 6,858,719

Accounting policy

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are included in Note C1-6 for IPPE assets and Note C1-7 for intangible assets.

Council assets held at fair value that are not held primarily for their ability to generate net cash flow, and that are deemed to
be specialised, are not tested for impairment since these assets are assessed on an annual basis to ensure that the carrying
amount is not materially different from fair value and therefore an impairment loss would be captured during this assessment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.

Other non-financial assets that do not meet the criteria above are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Impairment losses for revalued assets are firstly offset against the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset,
with only the excess to be recognised in the Income Statement.

B3-3 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets
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2022 2021
$ Notes Actual Actual

Impairment of receivables
Other 477,100 –
Total impairment of receivables C1-4 477,100 –

Donations, contributions and assistance to other organisations (Section 
356) 31,800 22,100
Total other expenses 508,900 22,100

Other expenses are recorded on an accruals basis when Council has an obligation for the expenses.
Accounting policy

Impairment expenses are recognised when identified.

B3-4 Other expenses
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2022 2021
$ Notes Actual Actual

Gain (or loss) on disposal of infrastructure C1-6

Less: carrying amount of infrastructure assets sold/written off (171,538) (1,300,110)
Gain (or loss) on disposal (171,538) (1,300,110)

Net gain (or loss) from disposal of assets (171,538) (1,300,110)

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Accounting policy
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. The gain or loss on sale of an 
asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer and the asset is de-recognised.

B4 Gains or losses

B4-1 Gain or loss from the disposal, replacement and de-recognition of assets
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Council’s original budget was adopted by the Council on 07/07/2021 and is not required to be audited. The original projections
on which the budget was based have been affected by a number of factors. These include state and federal government
decisions, including new grant programs, changing economic activity, environmental factors, and by decisions made by
Council.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

While these General Purpose Financial Statements include the original budget adopted by Council, the Act requires Council to
review its financial budget on a quarterly basis, so it is able to manage the variation between actuals and budget that invariably
occur during the year.

Material variations of more than 10% between original budget and actual results or where the variance is considered material
by nature are explained below.

Variation Key: F = Favourable budget variation, U = Unfavourable budget variation.

 2022 2022 2022
$ Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

Revenues

Rates and annual charges 1,690,874 2,258,471 567,597 34% F

Higher due to a Council decision to raise additional revenue through rates.

User charges and fees 14,324,745 14,071,955 (252,790) (2)% U

Other revenues 5,145,793 6,045,062 899,269 17% F

Higher predominately due to stronger liquor bond sales and other minor variances.

Operating grants and contributions 9,070,055 13,606,130 4,536,075 50% F

Higher due the timing of receipt and more activity with the Commonwealth Service Delivery Agreement.

Capital grants and contributions – 6,603,709 6,603,709 ∞ F

Council was awarded substantial unbudgeted capital funding during the latter part of 2022.

Interest and investment revenue 30,000 24,333 (5,667) (19)% U

Lower due to a lower interest rate environment.

Other income – 329,278 329,278 ∞ F

Expenses

Employee benefits and on-costs 10,557,832 10,635,675 (77,843) (1)% U

Materials and services 4,119,211 16,634,929 (12,515,718) (304)% U

Higher than budgeted freight, fuel, credit losses, contractors and outsourced labour costs.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
non-financial assets 6,753,823 7,162,841 (409,018) (6)% U

Other expenses 8,331,122 508,900 7,822,222 94% F

For budgeting purposes this type of expenses is considered in combination with material and services.

Net losses from disposal of assets – 171,538 (171,538) ∞ U

continued on next page ... 

B5 Performance against budget

B5-1 Material budget variations
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 2022 2022 2022
$ Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

This figure represents write-off of non-depreciated amount of replaced assets which is a non-cash transaction and hard to 
budget for. 

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities 6,090,939 20,179,766 14,088,827 231% F

Higher due the timing of receipt and more activity with the Commonwealth Service Delivery Agreement. Plus Council was
awarded substantial unbudgeted capital funding during the latter part of 2022.

Cash flows from investing activities (3,637,216) (9,228,328) (5,591,112) 154% U

In line with the increased amount of the capital grants received.

B5-1 Material budget variations (continued)
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Cash assets
Cash on hand and at bank 16,230,992 5,279,554
Total cash and cash equivalents 16,230,992 5,279,554

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents per Statement of Financial Position 16,230,992 5,279,554
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows 16,230,992 5,279,554
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy
For Statement of Cash Flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include: cash on hand; deposits held at call 
with financial institutions; other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.
 

C1-2 Financial investments
§Note§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Actual Actual Actual Actual

Total financial investments – – – –

Total cash assets, cash equivalents and investments 16,230,992 – 5,279,554 –

§TocItem§
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Accounting policy

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Council becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, Council classifies its financial assets into the following categories – those measured at:
Classification

• amortised cost
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
• fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument (FVOCI-equity)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition. As at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 council did
not have financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI-equity.

Council’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables, term deposits and cash and cash
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position. Term deposits with an initial term of more than 3 months are classified as
investments rather than cash and cash equivalents.

Amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less
provision for impairment.

continued on next page ... 

C Financial position

C1 Assets we manage

C1-1 Cash and cash equivalents
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Interest income, impairment and gains or loss on de-recognition are recognised in profit or loss.

C1-2 Financial investments (continued)
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

(a) Externally restricted 
cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 16,230,992 5,279,554
§Total§

Less: Externally restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (7,448,133) (2,020,113)
Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external restrictions 8,782,859 3,259,441

2022 2021
$ Notes Actual Actual

External restrictions

§Total§

External restrictions – included in liabilities
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above comprise:

Norfolk Island language trust 11,084 10,018
Bookeasy ticket sales 125,286 94,618
Curator of deceased estates 716,218 500,711
Specific purpose unexpended grants – general fund C3-2 2,894,495 206,331
Iven 'Toon' Buffet Environment Fund 101,695 101,695
Historic Shipwrecks 65,634 46,101
Other deposits 31,109 29,792
Legal Aid Trust Fund 227,818 140,923
Protecting National Historic Sites 2,500 2,500
Telecom bonds 24,645 25,149
Other 44,000 –
External restrictions – included in liabilities 4,244,484 1,157,838

External restrictions – other
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above 
comprise:

Specific purpose unexpended grants (recognised as revenue) – general 
fund 3,203,649 752,275
PFAS Remediation - unspent funds – 110,000
External restrictions – other 3,203,649 862,275
Total external restrictions 7,448,133 2,020,113

Cash, cash equivalents and investments subject to external restrictions are those which are only available for specific use 
by Council due to a restriction placed by legislation or third-party contractual agreement.
 

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

(b) Internal allocations

§Subnote§

Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external 
restrictions 8,782,859 3,259,441

§Total§

Less: Internally restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (3,409,873) (2,949,656)
Unrestricted and unallocated cash, cash equivalents and investments 5,372,986 309,785

Internal allocations
At 30 June, Council has internally allocated funds to the following:

Employees leave entitlement 1,584,365 1,363,382
Carry over works 1,825,508 1,586,274

§Total§

continued on next page ... 
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Total internal allocations 3,409,873 2,949,656

Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external restrictions may be internally allocated by resolution or
policy of the elected Council.

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

(c) Unrestricted and unallocated

§Subnote§

Unrestricted and unallocated cash, cash equivalents and investments 5,372,986 309,785

C1-3 Restricted and allocated cash, cash equivalents and investments (continued)
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2022 2022 2021   1 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Actual Actual Actual Actual

Rates and annual charges 362,091 – 253,418 –
Interest and extra charges 40,306 – 35,797 –
User charges and fees 1,608,389 – 1,371,509 –
Government grants and subsidies 756,683 – 2,460,595 –
Net GST receivable – – 9,612 –
Other debtors 39,088 – (80,000) –

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Electricity debtors 1,292,093 – 919,166 –
Telecom Debtors 467,168 – 327,573 –
Total 4,565,818 – 5,297,670 –

Less: provision for impairment
User charges and fees (697,100) – (220,000) –
Total provision for impairment – 
receivables (697,100) – (220,000) –

Total net receivables 3,868,718 – 5,077,670 –

(1) Reclassifications were made in 2021 between receivables lines with no effect on the total amount of receivables balance.
 

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Movement in provision for impairment of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year (calculated in accordance with AASB 139) 220,000 260,726
+ new provisions recognised during the year 477,100 –
– amounts provided for but recovered during the year – (40,726)
Balance at the end of the year 697,100 220,000

§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. Receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis.
Impairment

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, and when
estimating ECL, the Council considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on Council’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment, and including forward-looking information.

When considering the ECL for rates debtors, Council takes into account that unpaid rates represent a charge against the
rateable property that will be recovered when the property is next sold. For non-rates debtors, Council uses the presumption
that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant increase in credit risk.

The Council uses the presentation that a financial asset is in default when:
• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Council in full, without recourse by the Council to actions

such as realising security (if any is held) or
• the financial assets (for non-rates debtors) are more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with
the contract, and the cash flows expected to be received. This is applied using a probability weighted approach.

On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 months is recognised. Where the
asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime losses are estimated and recognised.

Council uses the simplified approach for trade receivables where the expected lifetime credit losses are recognised on day 1.

continued on next page ... 
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There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

The Council writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the receivables are over 7 years past due, whichever occurs first.

Where the Council renegotiates the terms of receivables due from certain customers, the new expected cash flows are
discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.

Rates and annual charges outstanding are secured against the property.

C1-4 Receivables (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Actual Actual Actual Actual

Inventories at cost
Stores and materials 1,952,184 – 1,866,501 –
Trading stock 385,319 – 404,936 –
Total inventories at cost 2,337,503 – 2,271,437 –

Total inventories 2,337,503 – 2,271,437 –

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory 
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

C1-5 Inventories
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By aggregated 
asset class At 1 July 2021 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2022

$
Gross carrying 

amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals   1

Additions new 
assets

Carrying value of 
disposals

Depreciation 
expense WIP transfers

Revaluation 
increments to 
equity (ARR)

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Capital work in progress 987,472 – 987,472 414,032 8,813,698 – – (6,646,037) – 3,569,764 – 3,569,764
Plant and equipment 11,760,238 (3,708,342) 8,051,896 – – (139,943) (969,641) 2,084,243 – 13,641,396 (4,614,842) 9,026,554
Office equipment 345,883 (211,910) 133,973 – – – (48,137) 21,745 – 367,628 (260,047) 107,581
Furniture and fittings 6,178 (3,707) 2,471 – – – (18,660) 820,953 – 827,131 (22,366) 804,765
Land:
– Operational land 11,204,700 – 11,204,700 – – – – 363,491 2,240,940 13,809,131 – 13,809,131
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – specialised 38,712,726 (26,102,330) 12,610,396 – – – (773,751) 1,632,036 – 40,344,762 (26,876,081) 13,468,681
– Other structures 7,856,168 (1,961,115) 5,895,053 – – – (254,216) – – 7,856,168 (2,215,331) 5,640,837
– Roads 130,392,346 (28,624,975) 101,767,371 – – – (3,309,508) – – 130,392,346 (31,934,483) 98,457,863
– Bridges 1,957,747 (974,535) 983,212 – – – (27,038) – – 1,957,747 (1,001,574) 956,173
– Sewerage network 6,087,974 (2,663,002) 3,424,972 – – – (114,307) – – 6,087,974 (2,777,310) 3,310,664
– Other infrastructure 56,557,149 (25,049,252) 31,507,897 – – (31,595) (1,628,498) 1,723,569 – 58,204,788 (26,633,414) 31,571,374
Total infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment 265,868,581 (89,299,168) 176,569,413 414,032 8,813,698 (171,538) (7,143,756) – 2,240,940 277,058,835 (96,335,448) 180,723,387

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
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By aggregated 
asset class At 1 July 2020 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2021

$
Gross carrying 

amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals   1

Additions new 
assets

Carrying value 
of disposals

Depreciation 
expense WIP transfers

Transfers to 
Intangible 

Assets
Expensed in 

P/L
Transfers to 

inventory
Gross carrying 

amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Capital work in progress 47,683,994 – 47,683,994 14,206,652 4,529,939 – – (64,899,453) (76,341) (38,540) (418,780) 987,472 – 987,472
Plant and equipment 6,944,083 (2,855,301) 4,088,782 – – (30,294) (929,440) 4,922,846 – – – 11,760,238 (3,708,342) 8,051,896
Office equipment 345,883 (151,750) 194,133 – – – (60,160) – – – – 345,883 (211,910) 133,973
Furniture and fittings 6,178 (3,089) 3,089 – – – (619) – – – – 6,178 (3,707) 2,471
Land:
– Operational land 11,204,700 – 11,204,700 – – – – – – – – 11,204,700 – 11,204,700
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – specialised 38,560,900 (25,363,857) 13,197,043 – – – (738,473) 151,826 – – – 38,712,726 (26,102,330) 12,610,396
– Other structures 7,678,888 (1,707,099) 5,971,789 – – – (254,016) 177,280 – – – 7,856,168 (1,961,115) 5,895,053
– Roads 80,231,687 (26,486,278) 53,745,409 – – (1,118,559) (3,345,382) 52,485,906 – – – 130,392,346 (28,624,975) 101,767,371
– Bridges 1,957,747 (947,497) 1,010,250 – – – (27,038) – – – – 1,957,747 (974,535) 983,212
– Sewerage network 6,087,974 (2,548,587) 3,539,387 – – – (114,416) – – – – 6,087,974 (2,663,002) 3,424,972
– Other infrastructure 52,901,804 (27,030,252) 25,871,552 – – (151,257) (1,373,993) 7,161,595 – – – 56,557,149 (25,049,252) 31,507,897
Total infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment 253,603,838 (87,093,710) 166,510,128 14,206,652 4,529,939 (1,300,110) (6,843,537) – (76,341) (38,540) (418,780) 265,868,581 (89,299,168) 176,569,413

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

continued on next page ... 
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§Note/Subtotal§

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are held at fair value. Independent comprehensive valuations are performed at
least every five years, however the carrying amount of assets is assessed by Council at each reporting date to confirm that
it is not materially different from current fair value.

Accounting policy

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to the revaluation reserve. To the extent that the increase
reverses a decrease previously recognising profit or loss relating to that asset class, the increase is first recognised as profit
or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of assets in the same class are first charged against revaluation reserves
directly in equity to the extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the class; all other decreases are charged to the Income
Statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Income Statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

When infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are acquired by Council for nil or nominal consideration, the assets are
initially recognised at their fair value at acquisition date.

Land is not depreciated. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Council
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment Years Other equipment Years
Office equipment 5 to 10 Playground equipment 5 to 15
Office furniture 10 to 20 Benches, seats etc. 10 to 20
Computer equipment 4
Vehicles 5 to 8 Buildings
Heavy plant/road making equipment 5 to 8 Buildings: masonry 50 to 100
Other plant and equipment 5 to 15 Buildings: other 20 to 40

Water and sewer assets Stormwater assets
Dams and reservoirs 80 to 100 Drains 80 to 100
Bores 20 to 40 Culverts 50 to 80
Reticulation pipes: PVC 70 to 80 Flood control structures 80 to 100
Reticulation pipes: other 25 to 75
Pumps and telemetry 15 to 20

Transportation assets Other infrastructure assets
Sealed roads: surface 20 Bulk earthworks 20
Sealed roads: formation Indefinite Swimming pools 50
Unsealed roads 20 Unsealed roads 20
Bridge: concrete 100 Other open space/recreational assets 20
Bridge: other 50 Other infrastructure 20
Road pavements 50
Kerb, gutter and footpaths 40

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Land under roads is land under roadways and road reserves including land under footpaths, nature strips and median strips.
Land under roads

Council has elected not to recognise land under roads acquired before 1 July 2008. Land under roads acquired after 1 July
2008 is recognised in accordance with the IPPE accounting policy.

Crown reserves under Council’s care and control are recognised as assets of the Council other than the reserves in Kingston
and Arthur's Vale Historic Area (KAVHA). While ownership of the reserves remains with the Crown, Council retains operational
control of the reserves and is responsible for their maintenance and use in accordance with the specific purposes to which
the reserves are dedicated.

Crown reserves

continued on next page ... 
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Improvements on Crown reserves are also recorded as assets, while maintenance costs incurred by Council and revenues
relating to the reserves are recognised within Council’s Income Statement.

Rural Fire Service assets
Council recognises all fire service assets under the Fire Control Act 2000 (NI); inlcuding land, buildings, plant and 
equipment.
 

C1-7 Intangible assets
§Note§

§TocItem§
§TocItem§§Subnote§

Intangible assets are as follows:
 

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Software

§Subnote§

Opening values at 1 July
Gross book value 1,018,367 942,026
Accumulated amortisation (957,208) (942,026)
Net book value – opening balance 61,159 –

Movements for the year
Purchases – 76,341

Amortisation charges (19,085) (15,182)

Closing values at 30 June
Gross book value 1,018,367 1,018,367
Accumulated amortisation (976,293) (957,208)

Total software – net book value 42,074 61,159
 

Total intangible assets – net book value 42,074 61,159
§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

IT development and software
Software development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase (including external 
direct costs of materials and services, direct payroll, and payroll-related costs of employees’ time spent on the project) and 
are only recognised following completion of technical feasibility, and where the Council has an intention and ability to use 
the asset. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over periods generally ranging from three to five years.

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued)
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§TocItem§§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Operating leases

Council leases out a number of properties and /or plant and equipment to community groups; these leases have been classified
as operating leases for financial reporting purposes and the assets are included in the Statement of Financial Position as:

– property, plant and equipment – where the rental is incidental, or the asset is held to meet Councils service delivery objective
(refer note C1-6).

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

(i) Assets held as property, plant and equipment

Lease income (excluding variable lease payments not dependent on an index or 
rate) 329,278 417,565
Total income relating to operating leases for Council assets 329,278 417,565
 

(iii) Maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received after 
reporting date for all operating leases:

§Subnote§

Maturity analysis of future lease income receivable showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after reporting date for operating leases:

< 1 year 386,010 366,990
1–2 years 279,753 386,010
2–3 years 12,630 279,753
3–4 years 11,030 12,630
4–5 years – 11,030
Total undiscounted lease payments to be received 689,423 1,056,413
 

When Council is a lessor, the lease is classified as either an operating or finance lease at inception date, based on whether
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset have been transferred to the lessee. If the risks
and rewards have been transferred then the lease is classified as a finance lease, otherwise it is an operating lease.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

When Council has a sub-lease over an asset and is the intermediate lessor then the head lease and sub-lease are accounted
for separately. The classification of the sub-lease is based on the right-of-use asset which arises from the head lease rather
than the useful life of the underlying asset.

If the lease contains lease and non-lease components, the non-lease components are accounted for in accordance with AASB
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term for an operating lease and as finance income
using amortised cost basis for finance leases.

C2 Leasing activities

C2-1 Council as a lessor
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§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Actual Actual

Goods and services – operating 
expenditure 1,582,467 – 1,231,492 –
Accrued expenses:
– Salaries and wages 349,404 – 311,180 –
– Other expenditure accruals 189,424 – – –
Security bonds, deposits and retentions 1,305,989 – 951,507 –
Other 35,194 – – –
Total payables 3,462,478 – 2,494,179 –

§TocItem§§Subnote§

 

§Subnote§

Current payables not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

Nil

C3 Liabilities of Council

C3-1 Payables
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§Note/Subtotal§

Accounting policy
Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Payables
Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Council prior to the end of financial year that are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
 

C3-2 Contract Liabilities
§Note§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Notes Actual Actual Actual Actual

Grants and contributions received in 
advance:
Unexpended capital grants (to 
construct Council controlled 
assets) (i) 2,704,759 – – –
Unexpended operating grants 
(received prior to performance 
obligation being satisfied) (ii) 189,736 – 206,331 –

Total grants received in advance 2,894,495 – 206,331 –

Total contract liabilities 2,894,495 – 206,331 –

§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Notes
(i) Council has received funding to construct infrastructure assets. The funds received are under an enforceable contract 
which require Council to construct an identified asset which will be under Council’s control on completion. The revenue is 
recognised as Council constructs the asset and the contract liability reflects the funding received which cannot yet be 
recognised as revenue. The revenue is expected to be recognised in the next 12 months.

(ii) The contract liability relates to specific and enforceable grants for reimbursement of council's costs to deliver services or
construct assets to external parties.
 

§Subnote§

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Grants and contributions received in advance:
Capital grants (to construct Council controlled assets) – 5,402,988

Total revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at 
the beginning of the period – 5,402,988
 

Increase in contract liabilities balance by $2.7M was caused by advance payments received but not spent by the end of the
year for the following projects:

§Subnote§

Significant changes in contract liabilities

a) Purchase of telecom equipment ($0.3M);
b) Upgrade waste infrastructure within SDA 2023 ($1.1M); and
c) Upgrade electricity infrastructure within SDA 2023 ($1.2M)

Accounting policy
Contract liabilities are recorded when consideration is received from a customer / fund provider prior to Council transferring 
a good or service to the customer, Council presents the funds which exceed revenue recognised as a contract liability.

C3-1 Payables (continued)
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§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ Actual Actual Actual Actual

Annual leave and TOIL 1,003,290 – 887,994 –
Long service leave 581,075 – 475,388 –
Total employee benefit provisions 1,584,365 – 1,363,382 –

§TocItem§§Subnote§

 
§Subnote§

Current employee benefit provisions not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

$527,775
 

Short-term obligations

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised
in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liability for long-service leave and annual leave that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position if the Council does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement
is expected to occur.

C3-3 Employee benefit provisions
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IPPE Revaluation reserve
The infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE) revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements 
in the revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

C4 Reserves

C4-1 Nature and purpose of reserves
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§Note/Subtotal§

Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of Council.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments while maintaining an adequate level of liquidity and
preserving capital. The finance team manage the cash and investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisers.
Council has an investment policy which complies with s 625 of the Act and the Ministerial Investment Order. The policy is
regularly reviewed by Council and a monthly investment report is provided to Council setting out the make-up and performance
of the portfolio as required by local government regulations.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.
Financial risk management is carried out by the finance team under policies approved by the Councillors.

The fair value of receivables, investments and financial liabilities approximates the carrying amount. The risks associated with
the financial instruments held are:

• interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns

• liquidity risk – the risk that Council will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due

• credit risk – the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument resulting in a financial
loss to Council.

Council manages these risks by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing investments with high credit ratings or capital
guarantees.
 

(a) Market risk – interest rate risk
§Subnote§

$ 2022 2021

The impact on result for the year and equity of a reasonably possible movement in the 
price of investments held and interest rates is shown below. The reasonably possible 
movements were determined based on historical movements and economic conditions in
place at the reporting date.
Impact of a 1% movement in interest rates
– Equity / Income Statement 162,309 52,796

D Risks and accounting uncertainties

D1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held
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§Note/Subtotal§

(b) Credit risk

Council’s major receivables comprise (i) rates and annual charges and (ii) user charges and fees.

Council manages the credit risk associated with these receivables by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent
debt recovery procedures. Council also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is considered negligible, since the counterparties are
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry
sectors and/or regions.

The level of outstanding receivables is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored for acceptable
collection performance.

Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most non-rate debtors.

There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

Credit risk profile
§Total§

Receivables – rates and annual charges
Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to recover these debts as a secured charge 
over the land; that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest on overdue rates and 
annual charges at higher than market rates which further encourages payment.

overdue rates and annual charges
$

Not yet
overdue < 5 years ≥ 5 years Total

2022
Gross carrying amount 362,091 – – 362,091

2021
Gross carrying amount 164,034 89,384 – 253,418
 

Council applies the simplified approach for non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets to provide for expected
credit losses, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision at inception. To measure the expected credit losses,
non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

§Total§

Receivables - non-rates and annual charges and contract assets

The loss allowance provision is determined as follows. The expected credit losses incorporate forward-looking information.

Overdue debts
$

Not yet
overdue 0 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days > 91 days Total

2022
Gross carrying amount 3,001,727 62,000 262,000 254,000 624,000 4,203,727
Expected loss rate (%) 2.93% 9.76% 15.00% 50.00% 70.00% 16.58%
ECL provision 87,951 6,049 39,300 127,000 436,800 697,100

2021
Gross carrying amount 3,058,079 800,463 96,450 808,015 281,245 5,044,252
Expected loss rate (%) 0.00% 4.10% 10.00% 15.00% 20.00% 4.36%
ECL provision – 32,819 9,645 121,287 56,249 220,000

D1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)
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(c) Liquidity risk

Payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk; that is, the risk that insufficient funds may be on
hand to meet payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels, and by maintaining an adequate cash
buffer. Payment terms can be extended, and overdraft facilities drawn upon in extenuating circumstances.

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk: the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely affect funding costs.
Council manages this risk through diversification of borrowing types, maturities and interest rate structures.

The finance team regularly reviews interest rate movements to determine if it would be advantageous to refinance or
renegotiate part or all of the loan portfolio.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement
dates. The timing of expected outflows is not expected to be materially different from contracted cashflows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows for non-lease liabilities (refer to Note C2-1(b)
for lease liabilities) and therefore the balances in the table may not equal the balances in the Statement of Financial Position
due to the effect of discounting.

payable in:

$

Weighted
average

interest rate

Subject
to no

maturity ≤ 1 Year 1 - 5 Years > 5 Years
Total cash 

outflows

Actual 
carrying 

values

2022
Payables 0.00% 1,305,989 2,156,489 – – 3,462,478 3,462,478
Total financial liabilities 1,305,989 2,156,489 – – 3,462,478 3,462,478

2021
Payables 0.00% 951,507 1,542,672 – – 2,494,179 2,494,179
Total financial liabilities 951,507 1,542,672 – – 2,494,179 2,494,179

D1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)

Page 48 of 73

Norfolk Island Regional Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022



continued on next page ... 

§Note/Subtotal§

The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for either recognition
and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a ‘level’ in the
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

§TocItem§§Subnote§

D2-1 Fair value measurement
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Fair value measurement hierarchy

Date of latest valuation
Level 1 Quoted prices in 

active mkts
Level 2 Significant 
observable inputs

Level 3 Significant 
unobservable inputs Total

$ Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Recurring fair value measurements
Infrastructure, property,
plant and equipment

C1-6

– Operational land 30/06/16 30/06/16 – – 13,809,131 11,204,700 – – 13,809,131 11,204,700
– Buildings – specialised 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 13,468,681 12,610,396 13,468,681 12,610,396
– Other structures 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 5,640,837 5,895,053 5,640,837 5,895,053
– Roads 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 98,457,863 101,767,371 98,457,863 101,767,371
– Bridges 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 956,173 983,212 956,173 983,212
– Sewerage network 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 3,310,664 3,424,972 3,310,664 3,424,972
– Other infrastructure 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 31,571,374 31,507,897 31,571,374 31,507,897
– Plant, Equipment & Other 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – – – 9,938,900 8,188,340 9,938,900 8,188,340
Total infrastructure, 
property, plant and 
equipment – – 13,809,131 11,204,700 163,344,492 164,377,241 177,153,623 175,581,941

D2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies

During the year, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies for recurring fair value 
measurments.

D2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Valuation techniques

Where Council is unable to derive fair valuations using quoted market prices of identical assets (ie. level 1 inputs) Council
instead utilises a spread of both observable inputs (level 2 inputs) and unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs).

The fair valuation techniques Council has employed while utilising level 2 and level 3 inputs are as follows:

All infrastructure, property, plant, and equipment were valued prior to the creation of Norfolk Island Regional Council as an
entity. They were all valued by independent valuation firm, Australis Asset Advisory Group in 2016.

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE)

All non-land assets were valued using a Cost Approach. Under this methodology the gross replacement cost is assessed on
the basis that it reflects a modern equivalent asset with similar service potential. Gross current values have been derived from
reference to relevant market data for recent projects (taking into account Norfolk Island's location) and construction guides.

Operational land has been valued using market approach having regard to the "highest and best use", after identifying elements
that would be taken into account by setting an exit price. These elements include: land description and dimensions,
planning and other constraints on development and the potential for alternative use. Operational land has been valued by
Australis Asset Advisory Group in 2016 using level 2 observable inputs.

The latest independent valuation of all infrastructure assets was performed in 2020 financial year by Australis Asset Advisory
Group.

The assets Fair Value is calculated as the gross current value less accumulated depreciation to reflect the consumed or expired
service potential of the asset. In determining the level of accumulated depreciation a useful life has been provided to each
asset. Major assets have been disaggregated into significant components which exhibit varying useful lives. Allowance has
been made for the typical asset life cycle and renewal treatment on an overall asset or component level, noting that Residual
Values have not been applied in this assessment. The condition, represented by a Remaining Service Potential Score, has
been assessed taking into account physical characteristics, as well as factors such as functionality, capability, utilisation and
obsolescence.

Inputs are derived utilising a number of observable and unobservable sources. These include:

- Published construction cost guides (Gross Replacement Cost)
- Available market data for current construction projects (Gross Replacement Cost)
- Discussions with builders, suppliers and/or construction companies working within the locality (Gross Replacement Cost)
- Database of costs (Gross Replacement Cost)
- Construction data from the entity for new projects (Gross Replacement Cost)
- Gathering data relating to potential future trends in the area that may affect the usage, capacity, functionality or obsolesce
of an asset or asset category (Remaining Service Potential Score)
- Consideration of historic data about the age of the asset (Remaining Service Potential Score)
- Chronological age analysis or maintenance record analysis (Remaining Service Potential Score)
- Any other relevant information gathered or observations made for a particular asset on inspection (Remaining Service
Potential Score)
- Physical Condition Grade (Remaining Service Potential Score)
- The Entity’s Asset Management Policy (GRC, RPS Score and Residual)
- Observations of consumption patterns of similar assets/categories (GRC, RPS Score and Residual).
 
§Subnote§

Highest and best use

All of Council’s non-financial assets are considered as being utilised for their highest and best use.

D2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)

Page 52 of 73

Norfolk Island Regional Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022



§Note/Subtotal§
§TocItem§§Subnote§

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but their knowledge 
and disclosure is considered relevant to the users of Council’s financial report.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED

1. Guarantees

Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual pool scheme providing liability insurance to local government.

(i) Statewide Limited

Membership includes the potential to share in either the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on its past performance.
Council’s share of the net assets or liabilities reflects Council’s contributions to the pool and the result of insurance claims
within each of the fund years.

The future realisation and finalisation of claims incurred but not reported to 30/6 this year may result in future liabilities or
benefits as a result of past events that Council will be required to fund or share in respectively.

Council has provided no other guarantees other than those listed above.

(ii) Other guarantees

2. Other liabilities

The Council is involved from time to time in various claims incidental to the ordinary course of business including claims for
damages relating to its services.

(i) Third party claims

Council believes that it is appropriately covered for all claims through its insurance coverage and does not expect any material
liabilities to eventuate.

Council has not classified any privately owned land parcels as local open space or bushland for potential land acquisition.

(ii) Potential land acquisitions due to planning restrictions imposed by Council

Land under roads is not included in Councils assets, as permitted under AASB 1051, Councils can elected not to bring to
account land under roads that it owned or controlled up to and including 30/6/08, although the newly formed Council
commenced on 1/7/2016 the offical transfer of roads from the Commonwealth to Council is yet to be finalised.

ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED

(i) Land under roads

Fines and penalty income, the result of Council issuing infringement notices is followed up and collected by Council.
Infringement notices issued by the Norfolk Island Police Force under Traffic Act 2010 (NI) are also followed up and collected
by Council.

(ii) Infringement notices/fines

Council’s revenue recognition policy for such income is to account for it as revenue on receipt. Accordingly, at year end, there
is a potential asset due to Council representing issued but unpaid infringement notices.

Due to the limited information available on the status, value and duration of outstanding notices, Council is unable to determine
the value of outstanding income.

D3-1 Contingencies

Page 53 of 73

Norfolk Island Regional Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022



§Note/Subtotal§
§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Key management personnel (KMP) of the council are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the council, directly or 
indirectly.

The aggregate amount of KMP compensation included in the Income Statement is:

$ 2022 2021

Compensation:
Short-term benefits 1,122,792 1,031,312
Post-employment benefits 91,992 92,388
Other long-term benefits 3,386 –
Termination benefits 51,086 43,298
Total 1,269,256 1,166,998
 

§Subnote§

Other transactions with KMP and their related parties

Council has determined that transactions at arm’s length between KMP and Council as part of KMP using Council services (e.g. access to library or Council swimming pool) will not be 
disclosed.

Nature of the transaction

$ Ref
Transactions 

during the year

Outstanding 
balances
including 

commitments Terms and conditions

Impairment
provision on
outstanding 

balances
Impairment

expense

2022
Enter KMP description here 1 6,574 – Normal trade terms & conditions – –

1 Council acquired Covid related supplies during 2022 financial year from Signet, a business which was associated with a direct family member of the KMP of the council at that time.

E People and relationships

E1 Related party disclosures

E1-1 Key management personnel (KMP)
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

The aggregate amount of Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses 
included in materials and services expenses in the Income Statement are:

Councillors’ fees – 55,111
Other Councillors’ expenses (including Mayor) – 2,713
Total – 57,824

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

E1-2 Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses
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2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by the 
auditor of Council, related practices and non-related audit firms

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(i) Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 94,000 127,000
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services 94,000 127,000

Total remuneration of audit firms 94,000 127,000

Total audit fees 94,000 127,000

E2 Other relationships

E2-1 Audit fees
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Reconciliation of net operating result to cash provided from operating activities

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Net operating result from Income Statement 7,825,055 5,678,217
Add / (less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 7,162,841 6,858,719
(Gain) / loss on disposal of assets 171,538 1,300,110
Movements in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:
(Increase) / decrease of receivables 731,852 (3,603,698)
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 477,100 (40,726)
(Increase) / decrease of inventories (66,066) (242,383)
Increase / (decrease) in payables 350,975 (524,229)
Increase / (decrease) in other accrued expenses payable 227,648 58,849
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 389,676 369,245
Increase / (decrease) in contract liabilities 2,688,164 (5,196,657)
Increase / (decrease) in employee benefit provision 220,983 339,372
Net cash flows from operating activities 20,179,766 4,996,819

F Other matters

F1-1 Statement of Cash Flows information
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Capital commitments (exclusive of GST)

2022 2021
$ Actual Actual

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Other 872,397 1,622,247
Total commitments 872,397 1,622,247

These expenditures are payable as follows:
Within the next year 872,397 1,622,247
Total payable 872,397 1,622,247

Sources for funding of capital commitments:
Future grants and contributions 477,523 868,293
Internally restricted reserves 394,874 753,954
Total sources of funding 872,397 1,622,247

F2-1 Commitments
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Council is unaware of any material or significant ‘non-adjusting events’ that should be disclosed.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

F3-1 Events occurring after the reporting date
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 Amounts Indicator Indicator Benchmark
$ 2022 2022 2021  

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants 
and contributions less operating expenses   1, 2 1,869,984
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants 
and contributions   1

36,335,229 5.15% (3.05)% > 0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding all grants and 
contributions   1 22,729,099
Total continuing operating revenue   1 42,938,938

52.93% 48.75% > 60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions 14,989,080
Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities 5,002,843 3.00x 2.75x > 1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital excluding interest and 
depreciation/impairment/amortisation   1 9,032,825
Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows) plus 
borrowing costs (Income Statement)

– ∞ ∞ > 2.00x

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding 
percentage
Rates and annual charges outstanding 402,397
Rates and annual charges collectable 2,563,216 15.70% 14.49% < 10.00%

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents plus all term 
deposits 16,230,992
Monthly payments from cash flow of operating and financing 
activities

2,250,897
7.21

months
2.45

months
> 3.00
months

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) Excludes fair value increments on investment properties, reversal of revaluation decrements, reversal of impairment losses on 
receivables, net gain on sale of assets and net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method and includes 
pensioner rate subsidies

(2) Excludes impairment/revaluation decrements of IPPE, fair value decrements on investment properties, net loss on disposal of assets 
and net loss on share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method

 

End of the audited financial statements

§Note§
§TocItem§
§Subnote§

F4 Statement of performance measures

F4-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results
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1. Operating performance ratio

Purpose of operating 
performance ratio

This ratio measures Council’s 
achievement of containing 

operating expenditure within 
operating revenue.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      5.15%

The ratio increased compared to previous year 
mostly due to increased amount of operating grants 

and fees and charges received in 2022 financial year.

Benchmark: ― > 0.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

§TocItem§§Subnote§

2. Own source operating revenue ratio

Purpose of own source 
operating revenue ratio

This ratio measures fiscal 
flexibility. It is the degree of 
reliance on external funding 

sources such as operating grants 
and contributions.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      52.93%

Ratio confirms that Council continues to be very 
reliant on external funding sources, and continues to 
highlight that Council lacks the financial capacity to 

provide for and manage the economic impact of 
international and domestic events outside of 

Council's control.

Benchmark: ― > 60.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

3. Unrestricted current ratio

Purpose of unrestricted
current ratio

To assess the adequacy of 
working capital and its ability to 
satisfy obligations in the short 

term for the unrestricted activities 
of Council.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      3.00x

Council is equipped to cover current liabilities with 
current assets.

Benchmark: ― > 1.50x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

G Additional Council disclosures (unaudited)

G1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs)
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4. Debt service cover ratio

Purpose of debt service
cover ratio

This ratio measures the 
availability of operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      ∞

Council carries no loans in its balance sheet.

Benchmark: ― > 2.00x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

§Total§

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage

Purpose of rates and 
annual charges 

outstanding percentage

To assess the impact of 
uncollected rates and annual 

charges on Council’s liquidity and 
the adequacy of recovery efforts.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      15.70%

Lack of resources have hindered Council’s ability to 
collect debt in a timely manner. Customers' ability to 
pay also impacted by economic downturn on Island 
resulting from COVID pandemic and international 

and domestic events.

Benchmark: ― < 10.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

6. Cash expense cover ratio

Purpose of cash 
expense cover ratio

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months a Council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 

inflow.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      7.21 months

The ratio (7.21 months) has increased compared to 
previous year and is well above the benchmark of >3 
months. This is predominantly due to council being in

receipt of grants for both operational and capital 
purposes.

Benchmark: ― > 3.00months  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

G1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs) (continued)
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Principal place of business:

§TocItem§§Subnote§

New Military Barracks, Kingston
Norfolk Island 2899

Contact details

Mailing Address:
PO Box 95
Norfolk Island NSW 2899

Opening hours:
9:00am - 4:00pm
Monday to Friday

Telephone: +6723 22244
Local Free
Call: 0100

Internet: www.norfolkisland.gov.nf
Email: customercare@nirc.gov.nf

General Manager
Officers

Andrew Roach

Responsible Accounting Officer
Paul Martin

Auditors
Forsyths
121 Rusden Street
PO Box 114
Armidale NSW 2350
armidale@forsyths.com.au

Council Administrator
Elected members

Michael Colreavy

ABN: 60103855713
Other information

G1-2 Council information and contact details
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the general purpose financial statements 

Norfolk Island Regional Council 

To the Administrator of Norfolk Island Regional Council 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Norfolk Island Regional Council (the 
Council), which comprise the Statement by the Administrator and Management, the Income 
Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2022, the 
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022, the Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended and notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion: 

• the Council’s accounting records have been kept in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI), Chapter 13, Part 3, Division 2 (the Division)

• the financial statements:
- have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of

this Division
- are consistent with the Council’s accounting records
- present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Council as at

30 June 2022, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

• all information relevant to the conduct of the audit has been obtained
• no material deficiencies in the accounting records or financial statements have come to

light during the audit.

Our opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
the standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements’ section of our report. 
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We are independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110).

We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Other Matter 

The financial statements for the Council for the year ended 30 June 2021 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 4 April 2022. 

Other Information 

The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition 
to the financial statements and our Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Administrator is 
responsible for the other information. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we must report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Administrator’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 

The Administrator is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (NI), 
and for such internal control as the Administrator determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Administrator is responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including our opinion.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 
A description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 

The scope of our audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• on the Original Budget information included in the Income Statement, Statement of Cash

Flows, and Note B5-1 Material budget variations, Note G1-1 Statement of performance
measures – consolidated results (graphs), and Note G1-2 Council information and contact
details

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited
financial statements on any website where they may be presented

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Forsyths 

Jacob Sauer 
Principal 

30 November 2022 
Armidale NSW 
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Mr Mike Colreavy 
Interim Administrator 
Norfolk Island Regional Council 
PO BOX 95 
NORFOLK ISLAND 2899 

30 November 2022 

 

Dear Mike,  

Report on the Conduct of the Audit 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
Norfolk Island Regional Council 

I have audited the general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the Norfolk Island Regional 
Council (the Council) for the year ended 30 June 2022 as required by section 415 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 (NSW)(NI) (the Act). 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the agreed terms of our engagement letter, in 
accordance with mandatory Australian Auditing Standards, the Act and Local Government (General) 
Regulations 2005. 

I expressed an unmodified opinion on the Council’s General Purpose Financial Statements. 

This Report on the Conduct of the Audit (the Report) for the Council for the year ended 30 June 2022 
is issued in accordance with section 417(3) of the Act. This Report should be read in conjunction with 
my audit opinion on the financial statements issued under section 417(2) of the Act. 

Financial performance overview 
INCOME STATEMENT 
Operating result 

 2022 2021 Variance 

 $000 $000 % 

Rates and annual charges 
revenue 2,258 1,606 

 

Grants and contributions revenue 20,210 20,128 
 

40.6 

0.4 
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 2022 2021 Variance 

 $000 $000 % 

Operating result 
from continuing operations 7,825 5,678 

 

Net operating result 
before capital grants and 
contributions 

1,221 (2.258) 
 

 

Rates and annual charges revenue ($2.3 million) increased by $652,000 (40.6 per cent) in 2021–22 
due to: 

• a $124,000 increase to ordinary rates levied, which equates to the budgeted 10% increase to 
ordinary rates levied 

• the introduction of the waste levy annual charge ($460,000) to assist Council with 
infrastructure upgrades to the waste management facility 

Grants and contributions revenue ($20.2 million) remained similar year on year, with $5.7 million 
funding received through the Service Delivery Agreement for capital purposes relating to: 

• $1.9 million for acquisition of lighterage boats 
• $2.7 million for acquisition of properties to alleviate the housing shortage to attract 

professionals to the Island 
• $1.1 million for the Bicentennial Revitalisation project 
The Council’s operating result from continuing operations ($7.8 million including depreciation and 
amortisation expense of $7.2 million) was $2.1 million higher than the 2020–21 result. This is 
attributed to: 

• a $2.2 million increase in user charges and fees revenue, notably as a result of increases to 
Aerodrome (increase of $839,000), Electricity (increase of $693,000), and Telecom (increase of 
189,000) revenue as a result of increased tourism to the Island as COVID-19 restrictions eased, 
and Town Planning (increase of $820,000) revenue due to increased property sales on the 
Island. This was offset by a reduction to specific user charges of $260,000 due to Council 
levying an annual charge for waste management as opposed to a user charge 

• a $865,000 increase in other revenue as a result of increased sales at the Liquor Bond, which 
was driven by the increased tourism on the Island 

• a $1.1 million decrease in net loss on disposal of assets, which is due to timing of asset 
renewals 

• Offset by an increase in Materials and Services expenditure of $1.7 million which is linked to 
the increase in consumption of Electricity and Liquor Bond cost of sales 

The net operating result before capital grants and contributions ($1.2 million) was $3.5 million 
higher than the 2020–21 result. This is due to the changes as explained above. 

37.8 
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
Cash from operating activities 
increased by $15.2 million, 
notably due to: 
• a $3.2 million increase in 

user charges and fees as a 
result of the increased 
revenue driven by increased 
tourism and other factors 
during the year 

• a $12.1 million increase to 
grants and contributions 
received during the year, 
this was due to timing of the 
receipt of grant revenue 
recorded 

 

Cash outflows from investing activities decreased by $5.8 million due to a reduction in capital 
expenditure on Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment as the airport upgrade was 
completed in the prior year. 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
Cash and investments 

Cash and investments 2022 2021 Commentary 

 $000 $000  

Total cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments 

 
16,231 

 
5,280 

Major external restrictions include specific 
purpose unexpended grants, curator for 
deceased estates and the Legal Aid trust fund. 

Externally restricted cash, cash equivalents and 
investments increased by $5.5 million, due to: 

• an increase in specific purpose unexpended 
grants of $2.7 million attributed to Council 
receiving funding in advance for capital works 
projects, notably waste infrastructure and 
electricity upgrades 

• an increase in specific purpose unexpended 
grants (recognised as revenue) of $2.4 million 
as a result of carried over revenue relating to 
the Service Delivery Agreement, this is due to 
increased revenue received by Council as a 
result of increased economic activity on the 
Island. 

Internal restrictions increased $460,000, which is 
made up of allocations for employee leave 
entitlements and carry over works. 

Restricted and allocated 
cash, cash equivalents and 
investments: 

  

• External restrictions 7,448 2,020 

• Internal allocations  3,410 2,950 

  

(50)
(40)
(30)
(20)
(10)

0
10
20
30
40
50

2020 2021 2022
$ 

('0
00

's
)

Year ended 30 June

Net cash flows for the year

Operating activities Investing activities Financing activities

Page 69 of 73



4 
 

PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
The following section provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the performance 
measures and performance benchmarks set by the Office of Local Government (OLG) within the 
Department of Planning and Environment. 

Operating performance ratio 

The ‘operating performance ratio’ 
measures how well council 
contained operating expenditure 
within operating revenue 
(excluding capital grants and 
contributions, fair value 
adjustments, and reversal of 
revaluation decrements). The 
industry benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than zero per cent. 
The Council met the industry 
benchmark for the reporting 
period. 
The improvement in the operating 
performance ratio for Council is the 
result of increased tourism on the 
island increasing own source 
generated revenues and increased 
operating grants received during 
the year. 

 

 

Own source operating revenue ratio 
The ‘own source operating revenue 
ratio’ measures council’s fiscal 
flexibility and the degree to which 
it relies on external funding 
sources such as operating grants 
and contributions. The industry 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than 60 per cent.  
The Council did not meet the 
industry benchmark for the current 
reporting period, however the ratio 
has improved year on year due to 
Council managing its own source 
operating revenue through 
increases in levies, fees and 
charges, and increases to tourism 
revenue as a result of COVID-19 
restrictions easing. 
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Unrestricted current ratio 

The ‘unrestricted current ratio’ is 
specific to local government and 
represents council’s ability to meet 
its short-term obligations as they 
fall due. The industry benchmark 
set by OLG is greater than 
1.5 times.  
The Council exceeded the OLG 
industry benchmark for the 
reporting period, which is 
consistent with prior year. 

 
 
Debt service cover ratio 

The ‘debt service cover ratio’ 
measures the operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments. The 
industry benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than two times.  
Council has no debt arrangements, 
and therefore exceeds the industry 
benchmark for the reporting 
period. 
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Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage 

The ‘rates and annual charges 
outstanding percentage’ assesses 
the impact of uncollected rates and 
annual charges on council’s 
liquidity and the adequacy of debt 
recovery efforts. The industry 
benchmark set by OLG is less than 
10 per cent for regional and rural 
councils.  
The Council did not meet the 
industry benchmark for the 
reporting period due to no debt 
recovery occurring in the financial 
year. 
 

 
Cash expense cover ratio 

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months the council 
can continue paying for its 
immediate expenses without 
additional cash inflow. The 
industry benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than three months.  
The Council exceeded the OLG 
benchmark for the reporting 
period, as Council has aimed to 
maintain $8 million in working 
capital. 
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Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment renewals 
Infrastructure, Property and Equipment (IPPE) renewal expenditure during the year was $414,000. 
This was a decrease of $13.8 million compared to financial year 2020-21. This is due to timing of 
renewal works and the completion of the airport upgrade in the prior year.  

Other matters 
Legislative compliance 
My audit procedures did not identify any instances of non-compliance with legislative requirements 
or a material deficiency in the Council’s accounting records or financial statements. The Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form to allow the GPFS to be prepared 
and effectively audited 

• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit 
 
We commend the Council’s staff for their courteous and professional manner they have acted 
throughout the audit, and their acknowledgement of the issues raised. 
 

 
 
 
Jacob Sauer 
Audit Principal, Forsyths 
 
cc: Mr Andrew Roach, General Manager 
 Ms Katie Sexton, Chair, Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee 
 Mr Paul Martin, Manager Corporate & Finance 

Ms Sarah Vandenbroek, First Assistant Secretary, Territories Division, Department of 
Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts 
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Norfolk Island Regional Council 

PO BOX 95, Norfolk Island  2899

Telephone
International: +672 3 22244

Local Free Call: 0100

Website: 
 www.norfokisland.gov.nf

@NIRC2899
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